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This Annual Report contains for-
ward-looking statements which reflect 

the current opinions of Grupo Herdez’s 
management regarding future events. These 

statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and 
changing circumstances. The final results may be 
materially different from current expectations 
due to several factors beyond the control of 

Grupo Herdez, S.A.B. de C.V. and its sub-
sidiaries.

For more information
www.grupoherdez2014.com/english
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Grupo Herdez is the leading producer of shelf-stable foods 

and one of the main players in the ice cream category in Mexico, as well as one of the 

leaders in the Mexican food category in the United States.

The Company participates in a wide range of categories including burritos, canned vegetables, 

guacamole, home style salsas, honey, ice cream, jam, ketchup, mayonnaise, mole, mustard, 

organic foods, pasta, spices, tomato puree, tuna fish, and tea, among others.

These products are marketed through an exceptional portfolio of brands, which include Aires de 

Campo®, Barilla®, Búfalo®, Chi-Chi’s®, Del Fuerte®, Don Miguel®, Doña María®, Embasa®, Helados 

Nestlé®, Herdez®, La Victoria®, McCormick®, Nutrisa®, Wholly Guacamole® and Yemina®. 

Additionally, the Company has distribution agreements in Mexico for Herdez GoGo Squeez®, 

Kikkoman®, Ocean Spray®, Reynolds® and Truvía®.

Mission
To place quality foods and beverages within the reach of consumers, 

under brands of growing prestige and value.

Vision
Grupo Herdez aims to consolidate, grow and position itself as a leading 

company in the food and beverage industry, recognized for the quality of 

its products and the effectiveness of its efforts in satisfying consumers’ 

needs and expectations, within a framework of optimal consumer care and 

service, under strict profitability criteria, strategic potential and sustainability.

Values
Honesty, Achievement Focus, Teamwork and Trust.
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7
tuna

vessels

9
distribution

centers

8,735
employees

15
plants

Corporate
Profile

Supported by:

 Information as of February 2015 including Helados Nestlé

* Figures in million pesos
(1) Return on Equity
(2)	 Percentage	of	the	Net	Profit	invested	in	community	engagement	programs

14,319*
Net

Sales

1,504*
Net
Profit

12.9%
ROE(1)

2.8%
in social 

investment(2)
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Our
commercial
strength

Our brands
in Mexico

Distribution 
agreements
in Mexico

Our brands in the 
United States

Over

40
categories

Over

1,500
products

Over

400
Nutrisa
stores
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1914 - 1940 |
Compañía Comercial Herdez is 

established in Monterrey, Nuevo 

León, as a distributor of toiletries and 

personal hygiene products.

Don Ignacio Hernández del Castillo 

joins the Company in 1929 as Sales 

Manager, responsible for imports 

and supplier relations. His vision 

1990 |
In 1991, Grupo 

Herdez, S.A. de C.V. 

is established and an 

Initial Public Offering is 

made on the Mexican 

Stock Exchange.

With the acquisition 

of Grupo Búfalo, the 

Company innovates in the 

bottling in iconic glass 

jars. 

Grupo Herdez buys 

Pescados de Chiapas, 

thus entering the tuna  

fish category.

1940 |
In 1945, the sons of Don Ignacio, 

Enrique and Ignacio Hernández-

Pons, join the Company and take 

responsibility for sales, manufacturing 

and warehouse operations.

The year 1947 sees the creation of the 

first strategic alliance of the Company, 

McCormick de México, in partnership 

with McCormick & Company. 

The family recipe, which added lime 

juice to mayonnaise, turns McCormick 

mayonnaise into the market leader 

in Mexico.

2000 |
Enrique and Héctor Hernández-

Pons Torres, sons of Don Enrique 

Hernández-Pons, become Chairman 

and Vice President of the Company.

In association with 

Barilla, Barilla 

México is born 

and the Company 

and optimism lead him to become 

owner of the Company in 1933.

A pioneer in the area of creative 

marketing, Herdez develops sales 

and advertising programs in order 

to tackle an uncertain economic 

outlook.

1980 |
The plants in San Luis Potosí and 

Ensenada are inaugurated.

Herdez enters the apiculture 

business with the acquisition of the 

Miel Carlota plant.

In 1987, Fundación Herdez is 

created with the commitment to 

contribute and disseminate new 

food possibilities in Mexico.

100 years
creating our story 
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1970 |
Enrique Hernández-Pons becomes 

the Chairman of the Company.

Upon buying the Doña María 

factory, Herdez becomes the first 

company to produce mole on an 

industrial scale.

The Company develops a strategy 

to begin exporting its products and 

changes its corporate name to 

Herdez, S.A. de C.V.

2010 |
MegaMex strengthens 

its portfolio with the 

acquisition of Don Miguel 

and Fresherized Foods in 

2010 and 2011, respectively. Grupo 

Herdez enters into an association 

with Aires de Campo, a leading 

company in the sale  

of organic products  

in Mexico. 

  
The Company acquires Grupo 

Nutrisa in 2013, thus extending  

its capabilities into the frozen  

foods category and positioning  

itself as leader in the growing  

health and wellness segment  

in Mexico.

In 2014, Company sales exceed  

Ps. 14 billion and net income  

totals Ps. 1,500 million.

1950 |
The Company is one of the 

leading distribution firms 

in Mexico, selling local and 

internationally renowned brands 

and products throughout  

the country.

The size of its operations  

and sales double.

1960 |
In 1962, the 

Hernández-Pons brothers create 

their own line of products under 

the Herdez brand. The Company 

enters the mushrooms, peas, 

tomato concentrate  

and shrimp categories. 

To promote the brand, a decision 

is made to sponsor the variety 

show “Domingos Herdez”,  

a nationally broadcast TV show 

that aired for 12 years.

The phrase “Con toda confianza… 

es Herdez” is born.

begins to produce and sell pastas 

in the Mexican market.

In 2004, Héctor Hernández-Pons 

Torres becomes Chairman and 

CEO of the Company. 

In 2008, Herdez Del Fuerte is 

created in association with Grupo 

Kuo. A year later, MegaMex  

—a subsidiary with operations in 

the United States— 

is established in order  

to consolidate the Mexican 

food portfolio in  

this market.
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Net Debt/
EBITDA

times

‘13 ‘14

2.0

1.4

Financial
highlights

Net
Sales

million pesos

‘13 ‘14

+8.6%

14,319
13,180

ROE

‘13 ‘14

12.9%

10.6%

Consolidated
Net Income

million pesos

‘13 ‘14

+31.1%

1,504

1,148

EBITDA

million pesos

‘13 ‘14

+17.8%

2,415

2,050

ROIC

‘13 ‘14

11.7%11.2%
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 2014 2013 Var. (%)

Net Sales 14,319  13,180  8.6%

Mexico Core 12,197  11,558  5.5%

Nutrisa  1,166   783  49.0%

Exports  955   839  13.9%

Costs of Goods Sold  8,737   8,541  2.3%

Mexico Core  7,460   7,498  -0.5%

Nutrisa  424   298  42.4%

Exports  853   745  14.4%

Gross Profit  5,582   4,639  20.3%

Mexico Core  4,737   4,060  16.7%

Nutrisa  742   485  53.1%

Exports  103   94  9.5%

Operating Expenses  3,405   2,915  16.8%

Mexico Core  2,653   2,445  8.5%

Nutrisa  686   409  67.5%

Exports  65   60  9.0%

Profit Before Other Income and Expenses  2,177   1,724  26.3%

Mexico Core  2,083   1,615  29.0%

Nutrisa  56   76  -25.3%

Exports  38   34  10.4%

Other Income/Expenses, net  65  (33)   -

Operating Profit  2,113   1,757  20.2%

Mexico Core  2,006   1,634  22.8%

Nutrisa  69   89  -22.6%

Exports  38   34  10.4%

Equity Investment in Associates  415   186  123.1%

MegaMex  381   145  162.8%

Others  34   41  -17.1%

Consolidated Net Income  1,504   1,148  31.1%

Majority Net Income  771   608  26.9%

EBITDA(1)  2,415   2,050  17.8%

Mexico Core  2,232   1,876  19.0%

Nutrisa  117   111  5.8%

Exports  66   63  3.8%

Total Assets 23,261   20,989  10.8%

Total Liabilities 10,085  8,859  13.8%

Debt 5,780  4,979  16.1%

Total Shareholders´ Equity  13,176   12,130  8.6%

Majority Shareholders´ Equity  6,309   5,665  11.4%

free Cash Flow 1,491 (1,773) n.a.

Net Debt/Consolidated EBITDA (times) 1.38 1.99 

Net Debt/Total Shareholders´ Equity (times) 0.25 0.34 

Return On Equity (ROE) (2) 12.9% 10.6%  

Adjusted ROE (3) 17.7% 14.8% 

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) (4) 11.7% 11.2%

Total Shares Outstanding as of Year End (millions) 426 432 -  

Earnings per Share  1.79  1.41 27.0%

Book Value per Share 14.81 13.11 13.0%

Price per Share as of year end 35.44 46.47 -23.7%

 All figures are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and expressed in millions of pesos, except for per 
share information and financial ratios.  

(1) EBITDA Earnings Before Interests, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
(2) ROE (Return On Equity) = Majority Net Income / Average Majority Shareholders’ Equity
(3) Adjusted for the elimination of the reasonable value of Herdez Del Fuerte as a result of the application of IFRS 10 and IFRS 3
(4) ROIC (Return On Invested Capital) = Operating Income / (Shareholders’ Equity + Debt) Average
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THE HERNÁNDEZ 
FAMILY BEGINS 
CREATING OUR STORY

In 1933, Don Ignacio Hernández del 

Castillo, grandfather of Enrique and Héctor 

Hernández-Pons Torres, became the first 

of three generations of the Hernández 

family that would lead the Group to its first 

100 years.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GRUPO 

HERDEZ:

Grupo Herdez celebrated its 100th anniversary in 2014. A 

century of tenacity, effort and determination serving our 

customers and consumers to the full extent of our capa-

bilities; a hundred years that can be told in figures, images 

and memories of the greatest moments of the Company, 

but above all, through a fascinating chain of stories.

For 100 years, these stories have told us about people who 

relate to our brands and products, people who day after 

day affirm the slogans of Grupo Herdez that are deeply 

rooted in the minds of Mexican consumers: hechos con 

amor, con toda confianza and póngale lo sabroso.

‘Confianza’, which means Trust, is the foundation upon 

which we built Grupo Herdez, and although the market 

and our business have never stopped evolving, this val-

ue has represented our essence since 1914. This is why 

consumers continue to prefer our brands, and it is the 

reason why for over 68 years we have maintained strong 

relationships with our partners and customers, delivering 

renowned products of unparalleled quality.

Message
to our 
Shareholders
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Aside from the privilege of being here in such a 

meaningful moment, it is an honor for all of us who 

work at Grupo Herdez to be able to participate in 

the construction of the next 100 years, sharing the 

optimistic vision of a challenging future, full of op-

portunities and abundant with achievements.

This Annual Report provides a brief account of 

the growth of our organization during its first 

century, taking us on a journey through the his-

tory of the Group – from the first years when 

we were distributors to the consolidation of our 

US operations and the expansion towards new 

growth paths.

2014 RESULTS

Our first century came to a close with outstand-

ing results, despite a weakened consumption 

environment. Our strategies, and especially our 

commercial execution, paid off and allowed us 

to meet our annual objectives while outperform-

ing the industry average, with 8.6% growth in 

consolidated net sales – including 12 months of  

Nutrisa, compared to 7.5 months in 2013.

Also, lower raw material costs helped the op-

erating margin grow by 1.5 percentage points, 

with a 20.2% increase, while EBITDA increased 

by 17.8% to Ps. 2,415 million.

As a result of the appreciation of the US dollar, 

we recorded an exchange gain of Ps. 120 million, 

which together with the expansion in the operat-

ing margin, boosted consolidated net income to  

Ps. 1,504 million – a 31.1% increase.

The categories with notable performance were 

mayonnaise, tuna, salsa, mole and legumes, sup-

ported by the successful launch of the Herdez® 

Guacamole Salsa and the new ready-to-serve 

flavors of Doña María® mole. Moreover, our as-

sociate company MegaMex added about three 

million total households to its consumer portfo-

lio and we are now present at the tables of one-

third of all US families.

During 2014 we invested over Ps. 550 million, 

mainly allocated to the following projects at our 

associated companies:

• At McCormick, we opened a mayonnaise fac-

tory in the State of Mexico. This new plant has  

a production capacity of 120 thousand tons 
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across six lines and, thanks to its state-of-the-

art technology, is today considered the best 

plant in Latin America according to the trade 

magazine Industria Alimenticia.

• At Herdez Del Fuerte, we consolidated our 

vegetable production capacity in Los Moch-

is, Sinaloa, and initiated the construction of a 

new tuna fishing vessel. 

One of the greatest challenges for Grupo 

Herdez in 2014 was Nutrisa. In an environment 

of depressed consumption, we decided to 

revitalize the Company and in order to do so, 

made changes at the executive level, significantly 

streamlined the product portfolio, and closed  

42 stores where profitability was lower than 

expected. We registered over Ps. 60 million in 

extraordinary charges during the year related to 

this process, and closed the year with 429 stores, 

including 53 that we opened throughout the year. 

We are certain that the actions taken at Nutrisa 

are the basis to drive growth and meet our goals 

in the long term. 

FINANCIAL SITUATION

Resources generated by the operation totaled 

Ps. 1,970 million, equivalent to 13.8% of the 

Company’s consolidated net sales. This import-

ant cash generation helped reduce the debt to 

equity ratio considerably, even with the issuance 

of domestic bonds at the end of the year. The 

ratio of net debt to EBITDA decreased from  

2.0 to 1.4 times.

Furthermore, total shareholders’ equity in-

creased by 8.6%, while the return on majority eq-

uity increased by 1.5 percentage points.

SUSTAINABILITY

In 2014 we made progress in the area of sustain-

ability, particularly with regards to the environ-

ment. During this period, we reduced our water 

consumption by 7%, our energy consumption by 

6% and our CO2 emissions by 42%. 

Our commitment to the well-being and prosper-

ity of the communities where we operate was 

also apparent throughout the year. Through the  

Saber Nutrir® program, we provided another mil-

lion hours of nutrition education in 454 schools. 

In 2015, we aim to provide one million more 

hours in order to reach a total of 4 million. We 

also carried out 164 projects throughout Mexi-

co and installed the first Germplasm Bank in the 

Mazahua area, favorably impacting the quality of 

life of those benefited by helping them achieve 

food security for their families.

Additionally, through our Internal Healthy Diet 

Program, 295 employees adopted healthier 

lifestyles and managed to lose a total of 1,957 

kilograms.

100-YEAR VISION

On February 28th, 2015, we finalized the acqui-

sition of Nestlé’s ice cream business. This trans-

action implies important synergies with Nutrisa 

in terms of scale, portfolio diversification, territo-
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rial scope and distribution channels. The frozen 

goods division – comprised by Nutrisa and Hela-

dos Nestlé – will represent over 15% of our sales, 

turning it into the second largest category for 

Grupo Herdez and making us the second largest 

player in this industry.

We are very enthusiastic about this incorpora-

tion, which opens new paths of growth for the 

Group, and we extend a warm welcome to the 

more than 500 employees of Helados Nestlé to 

the Herdez family. What better way to start our 

second century!

At Grupo Herdez we look at the future with op-

timism. We have always done so, as this is part 

of our culture as a company and certainly one of 

the reasons for the success that makes us young 

energetic centenarians.

Opportunities in our country outweigh the chal-

lenges. That is why we allocate resources to 

modernize our facilities and invest in new busi-

nesses, creating jobs and seeking sustainable 

growth. To advance and maintain leadership in 

times of change, such as the one we are living in, 

is no easy task, but we are ready and are proudly 

preparing the Company for the next 100 years.

What we are, we owe to trust.

Trust in the effort, commitment and enthusiasm 

of 8,735 employees; trust from our partners; 

trust from you, our shareholders; trust from our 

customers, suppliers and stakeholders; trust 

from banking institutions and the financial com-

munity; and, especially, trust placed in us by our 

consumers.

Thank you for sharing one hundred years of cre-

ating stories.

Sincerely,

HÉCTOR HERNÁNDEZ-PONS TORRES

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Throughout the years, Don Ignacio’s vision would 

be complemented by the talent and dedication 

of his children and grandchildren; this would lead 

Grupo Herdez to become a leader of the food 

industry in Mexico.
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WE BUILD 
ASSOCIATIONS 
THROUGH
OUR TALENT

In 1947, the talent and commitment of its 

employees were essential for the Company 

to enter into an association with McCormick 

& Company, the first of a long series of 

successful partnerships that today shape 

Grupo Herdez.

“In Grupo Herdez they look 
after us, showing respect 
and recognition for those 

who work here”.  

 LUZ ELBA SALDAÑA
deputy ceo assistant

Part of the Grupo Herdez

family since 1966
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Creating
development
opportunities

For 100 years, the people who comprise our workforce are those 

responsible for Grupo Herdez becoming a leader of the food in-

dustry in Mexico.

The talent and dedication of our employees are the foundation 

of our success. This is why one of our strategic priorities is to have 

professional and qualified personnel.

During the year, we provided 110,371 man-hours of training – an 

annual average of 13.7 hours per employee – representing an in-

vestment of Ps. 8.7 million.

To support our employees’ development, 56% of the workforce 

received assessments and feedback, and all non-unionized em-

ployees received a performance evaluation.1

We also continued to develop technical skills and competencies 

through Grupo Herdez University. During 2014 we achieved a total 

efficiency of 76%, which is in accordance with international bench-

marks in terms of distance corporate learning.

At the Group, we foster inclusion and respect the right of collec-

tive bargaining. Of the 8,069 employees in our workforce, 43% are 

1 This information does not include Nutrisa employees.
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Year Accident Rate
(ACCIDENTS/HOURS WORKED)

Fatal Accidents

2014 3.7 0

2013 2.4 0

2012 2.6 0

women and 52% are covered by a collective bargaining agree-

ment. The Company has no outsourced personnel.

All of our facilities and operations prioritize the safety of our peo-

ple and we proactively monitor for any potential risks within our 

manufacturing processes. One out of every four employees be-

longs to joint commissions on workplace safety and health, emer-

gency preparedness and fire fighting and prevention brigades.

Additionally, in coordination with our Environmental Control, Safe-

ty and Hygiene department, our plants and distribution centers 

promote employee health in areas such as birth control, occupa-

tional stress and ergonomics.

Work-life balance for employees at Grupo Herdez is also one of 

our priorities. Consequently, throughout the year we implemented 

a flexible schedule program for those who work in our corporate 

offices. This schedule complements the flexible schedule already 

in place for mothers and students in all of our locations.

Through the Healthy Diet Program, 295 employees in Mexico City 

and San Luis Potosí lost a total of 1,957 kilos. This program is pri-

vate, free of charge and monitored on a monthly basis, providing 

employees with diet and exercise plans that help them to improve 

their quality of life and develop healthier lifestyles.

We have retirement plans for all our non-unionized employees, 

which at the end of the year totaled Ps. 178 million.



“This is my second home. 

Grupo Herdez has helped me 

grow professionally through valuable 

and committed people, who have 

been by my side over the  

course of 37 years”.

SILVIA MIRAMONTES LAU
research and development manager

Part of the Grupo Herdez

family since 1977

Employee
mix

by gender

43%
women

57%
men
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WE INNOVATE
TO CREATE OUR OWN 
STORIES

In 1962, led by the vision of Enrique and 

Ignacio Hernández-Pons, the second 

generation of the Hernández family decided 

to create a brand of their own, giving birth to 

Herdez®. Thus, Compañía Comercial Herdez 

became a manufacturing company that, 

through its focus on innovation, would later 

become a market leader. 

“Grupo Herdez 

is a fantastic collection of 

products, consumption occasions, 

and partnerships. A hundred years 

of history, a hundred years of trust, a 

hundred years of safety. Few companies  

in the world are able to offer this”.

ALEJANDRO MARTÍNEZ-GALLARDO
associated companies business

unit vice president

Part of the Grupo Herdez

family since 1988
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Creating 
innovative
stories

From our beginnings, we have been known for launching new 

products to the market, always complying with the highest quality 

and safety standards and addressing ever-changing lifestyles.

During these 100 years, innovation has been a cornerstone of the 

Group’s growth, from new technologies used in our processes 

and products, to the creative ways in which we have reached our 

customers.

Grupo Herdez was the first company in Mexico to bottle serrano 

and jalapeño chili peppers through a short process, eliminating the 

extended pickling times. We were also pioneers in bottling mole, 

a typical Mexican sauce that requires a great variety of ingredients 

and a complex production process, thereby enabling Mexican 

families to enjoy this traditional dish in a matter of minutes.

Our focus on innovation led us to revolutionize an emblematic com-

ponent of Mexican gastronomy: salsa. In bottling it, our consumers 

were able to leave the “molcajete” (a stone tool used for manual 

grinding) behind and instantly enjoy the flavor of the Herdez® sal-

sas. We were also the first company to process squash blossom, 

corn smut – or cuitlacoche the ‘Mexican truffle’ –, nopales, chile 

poblano and teas.
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of our products are 
subjected to procedures 

that assess their impact on 
the health and safety of 

consumers

100%

Since the 50’s – when our processes were hand-

crafted and our products made in small batches 

– we have evolved and incorporated continuous, 

automated and state-of-the-art preparation sys-

tems into our processes, such as high-pressure 

pasteurization. Our current manufacturing ca-

pabilities enable us to meet the demand of ev-

er-growing markets.

Today, Herdez® frozen Mexican cuisine meals and 

the line of Wholly Guacamole® minis – both avail-

able in the US market –, are strong examples of 

our focus on innovation, through which we seek 

to offer authentic Mexican products in accessible 

and convenient formats.

WE CREATE HEALTHY EATING 

HABITS

As part of our commitment to offer healthy op-

tions to consumers, our product portfolio includes 

organic foods, frozen yogurt, superfoods and food 

& sports supplements. We also provide options of 

healthy low-fat, low-sodium and low-sugar prod-

ucts, such as jams, syrups, soy sauce, dressings 

and mayonnaise. In 2014, we created jelly formu-

las that add fiber and have no sugar, sugarless 

maple-flavored syrup, and low-fat mayonnaise 

and dressings.

One hundred percent of our products are sub-

jected to procedures that assess their impact on 

the health and safety of consumers. These assess-

ments are performed in all phases of the lifecy-

cle of the products: research and development, 

certification, production, marketing, storage and 
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distribution, as well as during the use and disposal 

of packaging. To this end, our manufacturing pro-

cesses are certified by the Business Alliance for 

Secure Commerce (BASC), BRC Global Standard 

For Food Safety, Food Safety System Certification 

22000 (FSSC 22000), Hazard Analysis and Critical 

Control Points (HACCP), and ISO 9001.

To gather feedback and respond to the needs of 

our customers and consumers, we have several 

channels at their disposal. Among these are a toll-

free hotline, ad-hoc market surveys, home panels, 

brand health tracking, sensory studies, concept 

tests, product tests, launched product tests and 

social network presence.

OUR STORY IN MASS MEDIA

For over six decades, our creativity and market 

knowledge have led us to create advertising cam-

paigns and slogans that remain in the mind of the 

consumer today.

In 1962 we entered the television scene with the 

program “Chucherías Herdez”, which would lat-

er become the variety show “Domingos Herdez.” 

Paving the road for a new era of television in Mex-

ico, “Domingos Herdez” made its way into Mex-

ican homes every week for 12 consecutive years. 

Furthermore, our company used its broadcast to 

launch new products and position those that were 

already in the market.

Our story in the media is not only in television. We 

also launched memorable campaigns in both ra-

dio and print press that accompanied the Group 

throughout the years and made us a cultural ref-

erence for several Mexican generations. Over the 

years, phrases such as Con toda confianza…es 

Herdez, Hechos con Amor and Póngale lo sabro-

so remain in their minds.

Our promotions have also been unforgettable, in-

cluding the highly successful McFamilia Millonaria 

from McCormick®, and the Gran Familia Herdez, 

with which we set a Guinness Record for the lar-

gest digital photo exhibition. 

The media has evolved and moved to digital for-

mats. Far from seeing this as a challenge, we look 

at it as an opportunity that drives us to develop 

new and better ways to approach our consumers.

CURIOSITIES OF OUR HISTORY

During the 50’s, we began marketing infusions in 

Mexico under the name “tea”. Due to the pop-

ularity of McCormick® teas, the Mexican Depart-

ment of Health and Commerce, in accordance 

with customs and traditions, accepted the de-

nomination “tea” for infusions.
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OUR STORY TOLD BY  
THE TELEVISION  
AND OTHER MEDIA 

Part of the success story of Grupo Herdez is its 

entry to mass media beginning in the 60’s. In those 

days, Don Ignacio Hernández del Castillo and his 

sons, Ignacio and Enrique, saw television as the 

perfect opportunity to make our way into Mexican 

homes and position our products in the mind  

of the consumer.
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OUR STORY IS TRANSPARENT 
AND GOES HAND IN HAND 
WITH THE WELL-BEING OF 
MEXICO

With Don Enrique Hernández-Pons -the “Duke” of 

Herdez- at the front of the Company, during the 80’s 

and	90’s	Grupo	Herdez	consolidated	its	efforts	in	terms	

of social responsibility, ethics and transparency. The 

second generation of the Hernández family set the 

foundations to become a world-class company.

“Grupo Herdez 
trusts in us, and now 
that it turns 100 it is in  

our hands to continue  
creating its story”.

JORGE LEAL SÁNCHEZ
production manager planta méxico

Part of the Grupo Herdez

family since 1988
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Sustainability is an essential part of our business strategy. Through-

out our history, we have implemented several initiatives to drive 

community development and preserve natural resources. The 

Company adheres to the United Nations Global Compact, is a 

member of the Sustainable Index of the Mexican Stock Exchange, 

and has been recognized by CEMEFI as a Socially Responsible 

Company for seven consecutive years.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Compliance with regulations is an essential prerequisite for our 

operations. Therefore, we comply fully with laws and regulations 

in all countries where we operate.

Even before industry certifications such as ISO and FSSC were cre-

ated, we already had internal systems to test our processes and 

ensure the quality and safety of all our products.

During the 90’s and 2000’s, the Group was a pioneer in Mexico of 

the ISO 9000 certification for a food plant and distribution center. 

It also received the first Food Safety System Certification 22000 

(FSSC 22000) in Latin America, which is recognized by the Global 

Food Safety Initiative (GFSI).

Creating 
positive
impacts on the 
environment



At Grupo Herdez we adhere to our Code of 

Ethics, which all employees must strictly follow 

– regardless of their hierarchy level – and which 

extends to our external advisors and service pro-

viders. In order to ensure that our operations are 

carried out in adherence to this Code, employ-

ees have access to a hotline reporting system 

that protects informants and offers three formal 

channels of communication:

• Mailboxes at each location

• E-mail: confianza@herdez.com

• Toll-free number: 01 800 CONFIANZA

 (01 800 266 3426 92)

During the year, a total of 45 incidents were re-

corded and addressed; 89% of these have been 

resolved and the rest are under review. Each inci-

dent prompts a corrective action, which can range 

from a warning to dismissal for violations to the 

Code of Ethics. In 2014, ten employees were dis-

missed for incidents relating to corruption.To re-

inforce compliance with the Code of Ethics and 

General Policies, last year we launched a cam-

paign with posters and internal TV screens, as 

well as e-mails with video spots. 

This campaign put special emphasis on our 

Gender Equality policy, which guarantees that 

every employee has the same opportunities to 

develop his or her potential. This policy also in-

cludes guidelines on non-discrimination in terms 

of ethnicity, age, religious beliefs and disability. 

No reports relating to discrimination issues were 

received during the year, according to the defini-

tion of the term established by the International 

Labour Organization (ILO).

At Grupo Herdez we recognize the importance 

of protecting the Human Rights of our employ-

ees, suppliers and contractors. This is reflected 

in our Human Rights policy and in our Supplier 

Code of Conduct, which aims to strengthen sus-

tainability throughout our supply chain.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors is the governing body of 

the Group and its Chairman is also CEO.

The Board meets at least quarterly and has inter-

mediate bodies to oversee the management and 

execution of the Company’s goals. During Board 

meetings, a sustainability performance report is 

presented, which considers environmental perfor-

mance and quality of life indicators for employees.
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD SESSIONS

Quarter 1Q14 2Q14 3Q14 4Q14

Date Apr-25-14 Jul-25-14 Oct-24-14 Feb-26-15

% of attendance 100% 67% 78% 100%

GOVERNING BODIES

Intermediate bodies Internal bodies

Audit Committee Risk Committee

4 members (100% independent) 7 members

Corporate Practices Committee Ethics Committee

5 members (60% independent) 6 members

INFORMATION ON THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Name Age
Member 
since

Governing bodies Responsibility

PROPRIETARY

Héctor Hernández-Pons Torres >50 1991 Corporate Practices Committee Chairman and CEO

Enrique Hernández-Pons Torres >50 1991 Corporate Practices Committee Vice President

Flora Hernández-Pons de Merino >50 2004

INDEPENDENT

Enrique Castillo Sánchez Mejorada >50 1991

Carlos Autrey Maza >50 1991 Audit Committee

Eduardo Ortiz Tirado Serrano >50 2003 Audit Committee Labor Practices

José Roberto Danel Díaz >50 2003
Audit Committee 

Corporate Practices Committee

Corporate Governance
Chairman of the Audit Committee

and Corporate Practices Committee

José Manuel Rincón Gallardo (FE) >50 2005
Audit Committee 

Corporate Practices Committee

Luis Rebollar Corona >50 2004 Corporate Practices Committee Environmental Practices

  FE: Financial Expert
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To avoid any conflicts of interest, each Commit-

tee has its own regulations to govern and limit 

the functions of the highest governing body. 

One of these consists of validating the com-

pensation of the Company’s senior executives, 

including its CEO.

WE CREATE ENVIRONMENTALLY 

RESPONSIBLE SURROUNDINGS

In recent years we have strengthened our initia-

tives, commitments and projects relating to envi-

ronmental efficiency.

During 2014, our Supply Chain added sustainabili-

ty key performance indicators to their goals, which 

apply as of January 2015.

Based on our Environmental Management Mod-

el, we established the following lines of action: 

I. Building green infrastructure, such as energy 

cogeneration projects with low CO2 emis-

sions; 

II. Increasing the use of clean energy and effi-

cient use of current resources;

III. Reducing water consumption in our pro-

cesses; 

IV. Increasing the percentage of recycling. 

As members of the food industry, water is an es-

sential resource with high levels of consumption 

in our manufacturing processes. In this regard, it is 

important to highlight that we have no significant 

impact on any water sources and that our con-

sumption is low in comparison to other industri-

al, agricultural and urban activities. Furthermore, 

none of our manufacturing facilities are located 

within Natural Reserves or in areas with species 

threatened by industrial activity, as established 

by PROFEPA‘s General Act on Ecological Balance 

and Environmental Protection (Ley General de 

Equilibrio Ecológico y Protección al Ambiente).

During the year, we decreased our GHG (Green-

house Gas) emissions by 7,978 tons as a result 

of the wind power generation project on the 

Isthmus of Tehuantepec, in the state of Oaxaca, 

which supplies energy to six of our facilities.

Protecting our biodiversity is key for the longev-

ity of the Company, and it also provides us the 

possibility to offer various healthy and environ-

mentally friendly products to our consumers. In 

this area, our main initiatives are:
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Year 2012 2013 2014 Goal
2015

GOAL: REDUCE TOTAL IN-PLANT CONSUMPTION BY 10% COMPARED TO 2009

Annual consumption kW/h per ton produced 154.0 150.9 149.5 143.0

Compared to 2009 -3% -5% -6% -10%

GOAL: 80% OF THE ENERGY CONSUMED MUST COME FROM CLEAN OR ALTERNATIVE SOURCES

Annual consumption kW/h 0 8,673,746 15,959,316 n.a.

Compared to 2009 0% 15% 25% 80%

GOAL: REDUCE POTABLE WATER CONSUMPTION BY 20% COMPARED TO 2009

Annual consumption m3 per ton produced 2.9 3.9 3.0 2.6

Compared to 2009 -9% 20% -7% -20%

GOAL: REDUCE CO2E EMISSIONS BY 20% COMPARED TO 2010 

Annual CO2e emissions per ton produced 0.18 0.16 0.15 0.20

Compared to 2010 -29% -38% -42% -20%

GOAL: REDUCE VOLUME OF WASTE SENT TO FINAL DISPOSAL BY 20% COMPARED TO 2009

Waste generated per ton produced 0.06 0.10 0.09 0.02

Compared to 2009 189% 355% 330% -20%

GOAL: INCREASE ANNUAL WASTE VALORIZATION BY 5% COMPARED TO 2009

Waste recycled 46% 36% 42% 45%

ENERGY

WASTE

EMISSIONS

WATER

1. Our fishing operations for yellow fin tuna 

(Thunnus albacares) are conducted in strict 

adherence to international guidelines. This 

activity may represent a risk for accompa-

nying species such as turtles, sea or white-

tipped sharks, dolphins and others, as well 

as a risk of contamination of the marine en-

vironment due to waste dumping, leaks or 

spills. In 2014 we began the certification pro-

cess for all our tuna fishing fleet by the Ma-

rine Stewardship Council, an independent 

international organization that establishes 

sustainable fishing standards.

2. Our facilities in the State of Mexico have in-

ternal controls for reducing the generation 

and emission of air, water and soil pollutants, 

thus avoiding any impact on local biodiver-

sity. This is of the utmost importance, as the 

facility is located in an area bordering the 

State Protected Reservoir known as Laguna 

de Zumpango.
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During the year, we invested Ps. 30 million in eliminating waste, re-

ducing emissions and preventing negative impacts on the environ-

ment, as well as on environmental management and protection.

WE CREATE POSITIVE LINKAGES WITH THE 

COMMUNITY

The development of the communities that surround us is a re-

sponsibility that we assume with enthusiasm. As such, in 2014, we 

invested Ps. 42 million in community projects, equivalent to 2.8% 

of our Net Income.

These efforts were undertaken through our Saber Nutrir® program 

and Fundación Herdez.

Saber Nutrir®

Originally called Herdez Nutre, this initiative was created in 2006 

with the goal to improve eating habits in rural communities. In 

2012, the program evolved into Saber Nutrir®, focusing on the im-

provement of nutrition conditions through education and the de-

velopment of competencies. Today, the program reaches primary 

schools and rural communities in nine states across Mexico.

During the last annual volunteer day in August 2014, our employ-

ees donated 320 hours to the construction of 10 new productive 

projects in the Mazahua area, located in the State of Mexico. 

Additionally, through the initiative Padrinos Saber Nutrir (Saber 

Nutrir Sponsors), we seek to drive employee involvement to im-

prove nutrition conditions among undernourished children. In this 

regard, the number of sponsors increased by 43%, and 69% of 

participating children recovered from undernourishment.

We monitored the program’s success in rural communities by 

means of a quarterly follow-up of the nutrition conditions of par-

Saber Nutrir®

2014 Results

In communities:

13 towns

1,243	beneficiaries

164 projects completed

31 sponsored children

In schools:

454 primary schools

378,475	beneficiaries

1,063,862 hours provided

CO
2
e

emissions during 
the year compared 

to 2009

-42%
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ticipating families, of which 55% remained stable, 28% improved, and 

17% worsened. 

In addition, we installed the first Germplasm Bank in the Mazahua 

community in order to foster the preservation of regional seeds and 

plants. This helps to protect the cultural and natural heritage of the 

area, where we also provide training to community members that en-

able them to produce their own food.

Fundación Herdez

Conceived in 1987 by Don Enrique Hernández-Pons as a non-

profit organization, Fundación Herdez seeks to preserve Mexican 

gastronomy and add value to basic foods through research in the 

anthropologic, social, historic and industrial fields. 

To do this, the Foundation has a museum, a library and an interpre-

tation center; all of which influence the cultural and educational as-

pects of the gastronomic field in Mexico.

During the year, the museum received 9,305 visitors and exhibited 

426 pieces associated with Mexican gastronomy of which 18 belong 

to the collection of the National Museum of Anthropology and History. 

Through its publishing program, Fundación Herdez received interna-

tional recognition from UNESCO’s Memory of the World Programme 

for Latin America and the Caribbean for registering the book “El Co-

cinero Mexicano”, which dates back to 1831. It also published: “El 

mole: ofrenda de dioses, manjar de señores”, and “La Razón”. The lat-

ter retells the story of a young entrepreneur named Ignacio Hernández 

del Castillo, who years later would transform our Company.

During 2014, the interpretation center served as a venue for 13 aca-

demic events with 195 participants.

the complete report on 
sustainability performance

is available at 
www.grupoherdez2014.com/english
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WE EDUCATE TO
CREATE LONG LASTING 
STORIES

Since 2006, with Héctor Hernández-Pons Torres as 

CEO, the third generation of the Hérnández family, 

persued better nutrition conditions for Mexican 

children. 

Through Saber Nutrir® children learn healthy 

eating habits considering the resources available, 

with education as the main driver to achieve true 

transformation. 
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TO PRESERVE
OUR CULINARY 
HISTORY

With	offices	in	Mexico	City’s	historic	

downtown, Fundación Herdez opened

its doors in 1987.

This philantropic institution seeks to 

preserve the culinary tradition of Mexico 

and contribute to food development.
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WE CROSS 
BORDERS INTO 
NEW STORIES

Today, with 100 years of 

experience, our organization 

gathers strength from talented 

people, engaged partners, 

unbeatable brands and  

loyal consumers.
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On our way
to the next
100 years

Based on our values, Grupo Herdez has built a profitable 

business that is constantly growing, always adding value 

for our shareholders, employees, consumers, communi-

ties, government and suppliers. 

Our history of long and successful partnerships attests to 

the transparency and integrity of our operations.

BEGINNING A NEW CENTURY

We upgraded our mayonnaise production capacity 

With the inauguration of the Mexico Plant, located in 

Zumpango, State of Mexico, we replaced the Group’s first 

manufacturing plant, built in 1948. This new state-of-the-

art plant puts us at the forefront of Mexico’s food industry.

We consolidated our operations in Los Mochis

By consolidating our vegetable production capacity in the 

state of Sinaloa, we comply with the highest quality and 

safety standards in the world and seek to increase the ef-

ficiency of our operations. 



2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

36

We began to build a new tuna vessel

With fishing capacity of over 4,000 tons per year, our new tuna ves-

sel will help us meet the long-term growth target for this segment.

We revitalized Nutrisa

After the acquisition of Nutrisa in 2013, we decided to strength-

en the foundations of this business in order to ensure its sustain-

able growth and double its size in the near future. This included 

streamlining its product portfolio and stores, as well as incorpo-

rating new talent.

We expanded our business in the international market

MegaMex, our associated company in the United States, added 

about 3 million new households to its consumer base. The brands 

Herdez® and Wholly Guacamole® reported double-digit growth, 

surpassing the industry’s average. 

We certified our plants with global standards

Several plants in the Group achieved BASC (Business Alliance for 

Secure Commerce), C-TPAT (Customs Trade Partnership Against 

Terrorism), FSSC 22000 (Food Safety System Certification 22000), 

GHG (Greenhouse Gas) and Industria Limpia (Clean Industry) 

certifications.

We were recognized in Mexico and the World

In Mexico, 39 products in our portfolio were recognized as Sabor 

del Año (Flavor of the Year) by Global Quality Certifications México; 

while 13 of our products in the US received Progressive Grocer 2014 

Editor’s Pick in the magazine’s excellence awards for innovation, 

creativity and profitability.

In the field of sustainability, for the seventh consecutive year, we 

received the Socially Responsible Company distinction awarded 

by CEMEFI and were part of the Sustainable Index of the Mexican 

Stock Exchange for the third consecutive year.
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Management’s
Discussion &

Analysis
of Results
All	audited	figures	contained	in	this	report	are	expressed	in	

millions of Mexican pesos and prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

forming stores and reorganizing the manage-

ment team. 

NET SALES

Net sales totaled Ps. 14,319 in 2014, an 8.6% 

increase from the 2013 figure. In Mexico core, 

net sales grew 5.5% to Ps. 12,197 due to the 

Company’s initiatives to drive volume growth, 

particularly in the second half of the year; while 

exports grew 13.9%. At Nutrisa, sales on a 

comparable (12 months) basis declined 5.3% 

because of the portfolio rationalization that 

started in the second quarter of the year and 

sluggish traffic resulting from the weakness in 

the consumption environment.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross margin in 2014 was 39.0%, 3.8 percent-

age points higher than 2013. This expansion is 

primarily the result of: i) lower prices for key raw 

materials such as soybean oil and wheat; ii) a 

better sales mix, particularly at Mexico core and 

OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE IN 

THE YEAR

Grupo Herdez overcame a number of challenges 

in 2014 to outpace the industry’s performance in 

sales and EBIT. The following factors notably in-

fluenced the Company’s operating and financial 

results during the year:

• In Mexico, investments in commercial strategies 

helped boost volume growth, particularly in the 

second half of the year, which offset a slower 

than expected pace of economic recovery.

• In the United States, MegaMex experienced 

a significant increase in the price of avocado, 

along with a very challenging competitive en-

vironment in the Mexican food category.

• At Nutrisa, as part of the integration process 

to the Group, we performed a comprehensive 

streamlining of the portfolio, which resulted 

in the elimination of SKU‘s, closing underper-



2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

38

Nutrisa; and iii) the positive effect of the Company’s hedging strat-

egy that limited the impact of a stronger US dollar towards the 

end of the year.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales were 23.8%, 

compared to 22.1% in 2013. This increase is explained by: i) low 

absorption of fixed expenses at Nutrisa as a result of the decline 

in sales; ii) extraordinary expenses of Ps. 33 at Nutrisa related to 

the restructuring; and iii) higher distribution expenses in Mexico 

core due to fuel cost inflation.

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES,  

OTHER INCOME & EXPENSES  

(EBIT Before Other Income and Expenses) 

EBIT Before Other Expenses rose 26.3% to Ps. 2,177, while the 

margin expanded 2.1 percentage points to 15.2%. This perfor-

mance is attributable to gross margin expansion at Mexico core, 

which more than offset weak operating performance at Nutrisa.

OTHER INCOME & EXPENSES

The Company registered Ps. 65 of other net expenses in the year. 

These resulted mainly from the consolidation of manufacturing 

facilities in Sinaloa, Mexico, and to a lesser extent, one-time 

charges at Nutrisa related to the closing of certain stores that 

were not reaching operating and/or profitability metrics.

EBIT 

(Earnings Before Interest and Taxes) 

EBIT totaled Ps. 2,113, a 20.2% increase when compared to 2013; 

while the margin expanded 1.5 percentage points to 14.8%. This 

expansion is explained by a strong performance at Mexico core, 

which more than offset the aforementioned extraordinary expens-

es and weak performance at Nutrisa.

Net
Sales 

million pesos

‘13 ‘14

14,319 
13,180

+8.6%

EBITDA
million pesos

‘13 ‘14

2,415

2,050

+17.8%

2,113

EBIT
million pesos

‘13 ‘14

1,757

+20.2%

Mexico
Core

Nutrisa Exports
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Net Debt/
Consolidated EBITDA

times

‘13 ‘14

2.1

1.4

COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL RESULT

The Company registered a net financing cost of Ps. 258 in 2014, 

almost unchanged from 2013, with an exchange gain of Ps. 120 

originated from intercompany transactions offsetting a higher 

interest expense.

EQUITY INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Equity investment in associates primarily comprised of the 50% 

of MegaMex pre-tax income, totaled Ps. 414 in 2014, compared 

to Ps. 186 in 2013. This increase is explained by the earn-out 

registered at MegaMex in the previous year. Excluding the ex-

traordinary effect, equity investment in associates would have 

declined 6.2% year on year due to extraordinary charges at Don 

Miguel and higher prices of avocado that affected the profitabil-

ity of the guacamole category.

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 

Consolidated net income rose 31.1% to Ps. 1,504, while the mar-

gin rose 1.8 percentage points to 10.5%, mainly as a result of solid 

top line growth, gross margin expansion and the increase in the 

equity investment in associates.

Majority net income totaled Ps. 771, with an expansion of 0.8 per-

centage points in the margin to 5.4%.

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, 

DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION (EBITDA)

EBITDA totaled Ps. 2,415, while the margin was 16.9%, 1.3 per-

centage points higher than in 2013. This reflected strong top line 

and operating performance at Mexico core, which more than off-

set extraordinary expenses derived from the consolidation of the 

plants in Mexico and one-time charges at Nutrisa.

1,504

Consolidated
Net Income

million pesos

‘13 ‘14

1,148

+31.1%

Mexico
Core

Nutrisa Exports
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Equity
Investment

in Associates
million pesoss

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (CAPEX)

Net CAPEX in the year totaled Ps. 574, with the majority of funds 

allocated to the consolidation of production capacity in Sinaloa, 

Mexico, as well as to the opening of 53 Nutrisa stores.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

At December 31, 2014, the Company’s cash and equivalents to-

taled Ps. 2,451. Consolidated debt totaled Ps. 5,800, which includ-

ed Ps. 1 billion of local bonds issued in November 2014 and used 

for refinancing debt due at the beginning of 2015. 

Leverage ratios remain solid at 1.4x net debt to consolidated EBIT-

DA and 0.4x net debt to stockholder’s equity, reflecting a strong 

cash flow generation throughout the year.

CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operations totaled Ps. 1,970 mainly due to the 31.1% 

increase in net income; while net investment resources amounted 

to Ps. 479. As a result, free cash flow for 2014 was Ps. 1,491.

415

710

‘13 ‘14

186

890

CAPEX
million pesos

‘13 ‘14

MegaMex Others

Maintenance Growth
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To the Board of Directors of Grupo Herdez:

WORK SCOPE 

We performed an independent limited review of the 

information and indicators included in the Annual 

Sustainability Report of Grupo Herdez for 2014. 

The scope of the information reviewed included:

• Plants: Alimentos Deshidratados del Bajío, Chiapas, 

Complejo Industrial El Duque, La Corona, Industri-

as, México, Nutrisa, Revolución and Santa Rosa.

• Distribution Centers: Chalco, Cuautitlán, Guadala-

jara, Mérida, Los Mochis, Monterrey, San Luis Potosí 

and Tijuana.

• Corporate Office: Mexico City.

The preparation of the report is responsibility of Grupo 

Herdez’s management. Grupo Herdez Management is 

also responsible for the information and the assertions 

contained therein, defining the scope of the Report 

and the management and control of the information 

systems that provided the information reported.  

Our work was conducted in accordance with the In-

ternational Standard on Assurance Engagements 

(ISAE) 3000 issued by the International Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the Interna-

tional Federation of Accountants (IFAC). This stan-

dard requires that we plan and perform our engage-

ment to obtain limited assurance about whether the 

report is free of errors or material misstatement and 

that we comply with ethical requirements, including 

independence requirements included in the Code of 

Independent Limited
Verification
Report of the Annual Sustainability 
Report of Grupo Herdez, S.A.B. de C.V. for 2014

Ethics of the International Ethics Standards Board for 

Accountants (IESBA).

OUR RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to issue an independent limited 

verification report based on the procedures applied 

in our review.  

STANDARDS AND VERIFICATION 

PROCEDURES

We performed our review based on the G4 Sustain-

ability Reporting Guidelines of the Global Reporting 

Initiative (GRI).

The reviews that we performed correspond to 2014; 

however, we also verified that the data related to the 

main indicators of the prior year matched with the 

2013 report. 

Based on this framework, we visited the McCormick 

plant in San Luis Potosí. 

The procedures we performed are as follows: 

• Meetings with the individuals responsible for the 

information in order to understand the activities 

performed and the procedures used to gather the 

information.

• Analysis of the information structure based on 

GRI-G4.

• Understanding of the procedures used in compil-

ing and consolidating quantitative and qualitative 

data, as well as their traceability. 
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• Review of the support documentation through analysis and recalculations, as well as 

sampling, to have more reasonableness of the indicators reported.

The verified indicators were: 

G4-10 G4-EN5 G4-EN15 G4-EN24 G4-LA1 G4-LA14

G4-38 G4-EN7 G4-EN16 G4-EN29 G4-LA3 G4-PR1

G4-41 G4-EN8 G4-EN19 G4-EN31 G4-LA5 G4-PR2

G4-57 G4-EN10 G4-EN20 G4-EN32 G4-LA6 G4-PR3

G4-EN1 G4-EN11 G4-EN21 G4-HR1 G4-LA9 G4-PR4

G4-EN2 G4-EN12 G4-EN22 G4-HR3 G4-LA11 G4-PR5

G4-EN3 G4-EN14 G4-EN23 G4-HR10 G4-LA12 G4-SO8

It is worth mentioning that the scope of this review is substantially less than a reasonable 

assurance engagement. Therefore, the assurance provided is also less. This Report shall in 

no way be considered to be an audit report. 

CONCLUSIONS

Subject to the scope limitations mentioned above and based on our work described in 

this independent limited verification report of the Annual Sustainability Report of Grupo 

Herdez for 2014 and with the indicated scope, we conclude that: 

There is no evidence that would lead us to believe that the Report has not been prepared 

based on the G4 Sustainability Reporting Guidelines of the GRI.

There is no evidence that would lead us to believe that the rest of the information and 

indicators included in the attached report contain any significant errors. 

AREAS OF OPPORTUNITY

Notwithstanding our conclusions, we have detected areas of opportunity in the prepara-

tion process of the Sustainability Report of Grupo Herdez, which are detailed in the man-

agement letter submitted to Grupo Herdez Management.

This report has been exclusively prepared for the Board of Directors of Grupo Herdez, 

S.A.B. de C.V., in accordance with the terms of our engagement agreement.

Mancera, S.C.

a member practice of

ERNST & YOUNG GLOBAL LIMITED

LUIS FRANCISCO ORTEGA

PARTNER

MEXICO CITY APRIL 7, 2015
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Audit
Committee Report
FEBRUARY 19, 2015

To the Board of Directors of

Grupo Herdez, S.A.B. de C.V.

I am pleased to present herewith the Annual Report 

on the activities of the Board of Directors’ Audit Com-

mittee for the 2014 fiscal year, in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 43, Section II of the Securities 

Market Law.

In the development of our work, we have taken into 

consideration the regulations contained in the Secu-

rities Market Law, as well as in the General Rules Ap-

plicable to Securities Issuers and other Participants of 

the Securities Market; the Best Corporate Practices 

Code’s recommendations; and the provisions of the 

Audit Committee Rules, as well as the Annual Program 

issues to be considered.

During the reported period, the Committee punctu-

ally held the meetings as scheduled, and the Agenda 

was in turn prepared with the issues to be discussed at 

each meeting, and the respective minutes were also 

prepared. The meetings were attended by the desig-

nated directors and invitees.

A Report was presented to the Board of Directors 

with the issues discussed in every meeting of the 

Committee.

The relevant issues discussed and favorably recom-

mended for approval of the Board of Directors, as ap-

propriate, were as follows:

1. The Reported Financial Statements as at Decem-

ber 31, 2013, with consolidated figures and their 

respective Notes were duly analyzed.

 Considering its relative significance, the information 

of the subsidiary Herdez Del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. 

which includes the operation of Megamex Foods, 

LLC and its subsidiaries in the United States were 

also analyzed.

 In accordance with the regulations of the National 

Banking and Securities Commission, the financial 

information has been prepared and submitted un-

der financial information international standards, 

and the audit was carried out in compliance with 

international auditing standards.

2. We have learned about the document “Commu-

nication with the responsible persons of the en-

tity´s governance” which based on international 

auditing standards has been issued by the Soci-

ety´s external auditor, with information required 

to be known by the Audit Committee.

3. We have analyzed the Report on the internal con-

trol assessment performed by the Society’s exter-

nal auditor during the normal course of its revision 

for the 2013 fiscal year audit.

 

 The report indicates that certain audit proce-

dures have been applied to the internal controls 

in regard to determined areas in order to iden-

tify controls, control design and implementation, 

operative efficacy testing and the conclusion in 

regard to the audit purpose. It is mentioned that 

coming out from its work, it was not necessary to 

substantially modify the originally planned audit 
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8. Additional services to those of auditing provided 

by the Society´s external audit firm, were related to 

transfer prices, local contributions, social security 

report, advisory and valuation of acquisitions for a 

total amount of Ps. 14.9 million.

9. We have learned and assessed the activities of the 

Risks Committee, as well as the mechanisms im-

plemented by the Chief Executive Office for the 

identification, analysis, management and control 

of the main risks to which the Society is subject to, 

as well as the established criteria for their appro-

priate disclosure.

10. In each and every meeting we have been in-

formed about the complaints received due to a 

lack of observance to the Ethics Code, as well as 

about the follow up and protection given to the 

informants.  

11. We have learned about and follow up has been giv-

en to the outstanding fiscal and legal matters, as 

well as to the adequate implementation of the Secu-

rities Market Law provisions, and the Shareholders’ 

and the Board of Directors’ meetings resolutions.

 Sincerely,

ROBERTO DANEL DÍAZ
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

approach, and no shortcomings were identified. 

We have learned about improvement areas and 

follow up has been given to their implementation.

 

4. We have learned about the 2014 Quarterly Finan-

cial Statements, and we have issued our recom-

mendation for their submission to the Mexican 

Stock Exchange.

5. We have analyzed and approved the work plan of 

the Internal Audit area for the year 2014, and due 

follow up has been given to its development, and 

to the implementation of its observations.

6. The new Financial Information Standards used 

during the 2014 fiscal year, as well as those already 

in force were consistently applied with no signifi-

cant effects. 

 

7. We have assessed the performance of the external 

audit firm KPMG Cárdenas Dosal, which has been 

considered as satisfactory and in accordance with 

the criteria established in the services contract. 

Likewise, the partner in charge of the audit, in due 

time has confirmed their professional and eco-

nomic independence. 

 In this manner, confirmation of the firm KPMG 

Cárdenas Dosal as the external audit firm of the 

Society and its subsidiaries for the 2014 fiscal year 

was recommended, with exception made of Her-

dez Del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V., whose external audi-

tor is another firm.
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3. We have analyzed the integral remuneration package of 

the Chief Executive Officer and other relevant executives.

 

 We have analyzed the external auditor Report on oper-

ations with related parties, as part of the agreed proce-

dures referred to in the applicable standard. In this re-

port, it was concluded that the transactions correspond 

to the normal business purposes, that they have been 

carried out at market value, and that they have been duly 

recorded as appropriate.

4. Such transactions have included sales fees and services, 

maquila, selling of materials, real estate and transpor-

tation equipment leasing, product imports services, 

personnel services, interests, freights and other services 

amounting to a total of Ps. 2,461 million.

5. There were no exemptions granted by the Board of Di-

rectors to allow a director, a relevant executive or an in-

dividual with decision-making power to take advantage 

for his/her own benefit, or in favor of any third party from 

business opportunities corresponding to the Society or 

to the legal entities under its control, or over which they 

have significant influence.

6. Management of derivative financial instruments, which is 

mainly focused on certain raw materials coverage, is being 

carried out in accordance with the policies that have been 

established and approved by the Board of Directors.

Sincerely,

ROBERTO DANEL DÍAZ
chairman of the corporate practices committee

Corporate Practices
Committee Report
FEBRUARY 20, 2015

To the Board of Directors of

Grupo Herdez, S.A.B. de C.V.

I am pleased to present herewith the Annual Report of the 

activities of the Board of Directors’ Corporate Practices 

Committee corresponding to 2014 fiscal year, as provided 

in Article 43, Section I of the Securities Market Law.

In developing our work, we have observed the regulations 

contained in the Securities Market Law, the General Rules 

Applicable to Securities Issuers and Other Participants of 

the Securities Market, the Corporate Best Practices Code’s 

recommendations, the Committee Rules and the Annual 

Program with the issues to be considered.

During the reported period, the Committee punctually 

held the called meetings, an agenda was prepared based 

on the issues to be discussed and the respective minutes 

were prepared for each meeting. The meetings were at-

tended by the designated directors and invitees.

A report was submitted to the Board of Directors with the 

issues discussed in every meeting of the Committee.

The relevant issues discussed, which in turn were recom-

mended for approval to the Board of Directors, were the 

following:

1. We have learned the policies for designation and for in-

tegral compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and 

other relevant executives.

2. We have learned about the mechanism to measure and 

disclose the observations on the performance of the 

relevant executives. During the year, the performance 

of these relevant executives was considered to be ade-

quate, having been determined on the basis of the es-

tablished policies.



 GRUPO HERDEZ | 100 YEARS CREATING OUR STORY

47

 48 | Independent auditors’ report

 50 | Consolidated statement of financial position

 52 | Consolidated statements of income

 53 | Consolidated statements of other comprehensive income

 54 | Consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity

 56 | Consolidated statements of cash flows

 58 | Notes to the consolidated financial statements

CONTENts

Consolidated 
financial
statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)

(Translation from Spanish Language Original)

Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries



2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

48

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
Report
FEBRUARY 26, 2015

(Translation from Spanish Language Original)

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V.:

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Grupo 

Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries (the “Company” or the “Group”), which 

comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 

and 2013, the consolidated statements of income, statements of other comprehen-

sive income, statements of changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the 

years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and 

additional explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these con-

solidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for 

such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the prepa-

ration of consolidated financial statements free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 

based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with International Stan-

dards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit in order to obtain reasonable assurance about wheth-

er the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
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In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

consolidated financial position of Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries as 

at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 in accor-

dance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board.

KPMG CARDENAS DOSAL, S. C.

JOSÉ MANUEL GONZÁLEZ GARNICA
FEBRUARY 26, 2015.
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2014 2013

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

 Cash and cash equivalents $   2,450,883    904,819

 Trade receivables (notes 6 and 9) 1,597,246 1,647,826

 Debtors (note 9) 99,096 46,330

 Value added tax recoverable 495,996 365,620

 Income tax recoverable  -        103,507

 Related parties (note 7)    104,630    251,212

   2,296,968     2,414,495

 Inventories (note 8) 1,939,019 1,985,769

 Derivative financial instruments (note 5) 23,641 6,916

 Advanced payments    58,315    54,653

 Total current assets 6,768,826 5,366,652

Property, machinery and equipment (note 10) 4,245,744 4,110,899

Investment in shares of the associated parties (note 12) 5,226,855 4,598,513

Intangible assets and goodwill (note 11) 6,636,241 6,608,383

Deferred income tax (note 18) 350,377 276,074

Other assets 33,209 28,738

     

  Total assets $ 23,261,252  20,989,259

Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement
of financial position
December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)
These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers.
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2014 2013

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES:

 Current installments of long-term bankloans and notes payable (note 14) $ 900,000  -

 Suppliers 991,594 1,094,386

 Creditors 487,437 484,430

 Related parties (note 7)  273,221 48,639

 Derivative financial instruments 36,478  -

 Income tax payable 243,388  -

 Employees’ statutory profit sharing payable  11,673  10,944

 Total short-term liabilities   2,943,791  1,638,399

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

 Notes payable, excluding current installments (note 14) 4,880,479 4,979,370

 Long-term debt (note 14) 1,127,662 1,064,219

 Derivative financial instruments (note 5) 31,706 31,921

 Deferred income tax (note 18) 785,124 814,512

 Taxes under tax consolidation (note 18) 207,903 218,643

 Employee benefits (note 17)  108,665  112,173

 Total long-term liabilities  7,141,539  7,220,838

 Total liabilities  10,085,330  8,859,237

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (NOTE 19):

 Capital stock 575,625 575,625

 Reserve for repurchase of shares 385,886 601,911

 Retained earnings 5,035,707 4,265,071

 Statutory reserve 141,862 141,862

 Premium on the subscription of shares 113,110 113,110

 Financial instruments (26,882) (19,114)

 Cumulative translation adjustment  83,730  (13,757)

  Capital attributable to controlling interest 6,309,038 5,664,708

 Capital attributable to non-controlling interest  6,866,884  6,465,314

  Total stockholders’ equity 13,175,922 12,130,022

Contingencies and commitments (notes 27 and 28)

Subsequent event (note 29)   

  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 23,261,252  20,989,259

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Consolidated statements
of income
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)
These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers.

2014 2013

Net sales (note 20) $ 14,318,529 13,180,293

Cost of goods sold (note 21)    8,736,508    8,541,161

 Gross profit    5,582,021    4,639,132

Operating expenses:

Selling (note 22) 2,811,284 2,449,008

Administrative (note 22)  593,549     465,715

 3,404,833    2,914,723

 Income before other expenses and incomes 2,177,188 1,724,409

Other (expenses) income, net (note 23)  (64,569)    32,636

 Operating income  2,112,619    1,757,045

Financial result:

Interest earned and foreign exchange gain (note 24) 891,076 938,986

Interest paid and foreign exchange loss (note 24)  (1,149,546)    (1,198,375)

 Financial result, net  (258,470)    (259,389)

Equity investment in associates (note 12)  414,334    186,323

 Income before income taxes 2,268,483 1,683,979

Income taxes (note 18)  764,195     536,465

 Consolidated net income for the year $  1,504,288    1,147,514

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests $  733,294 539,825

Net income attributabe to controlling interests  770,994     607,689

 Consolidated net income for the year $  1,504,288    1,147,514

Basic earnings per common and diluted share in
 Mexican pesos (note 26)

$  1.794    1.407

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of 
other comprehensive income
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)
These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers. 

2014 2013

Consolidated net income for the year $  1,504,288 1,147,514

Items that will not be reclassified to income:

Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations (292) (6,544)

Items that will or can be reclassified subsequently to income:

Foreign currency translation results 194,974 (16,664)

Change in valuation of derivative financial instruments  (12,852)  30,383

Consolidated comprehensive income $  1,686,118  1,154,689

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest $  825,763 541,429

Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interest  860,355  613,260

Consolidated comprehensive income $  1,686,118  1,154,689

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPITAL
STOCK

RESERVE FOR
REPURCHASE

OF SHARES

RETAINED
EARNINGSS

STATUTORY
RESERVE

PREMIUM ON
THE 

SUBSCRIPTION
OF SHARES

FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

CUMULATIVE
TRANSLATION
ADJUSTMENTS

CAPITAL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

CONTROLLING
INTEREST

CAPITAL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'

EQUITY

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 $ 575,625  600,000 4,396,286  141,862  113,110  (37,524)  (5,425)  5,783,934  6,268,885  12,052,819

Repurchase of outstanding shares (note 19(a)) -  (19,586) - - - - - (19,586) - (19,586)

Placement of shares (note 19(a)) - 21,497 - - - - - 21,497 - 21,497

Payment of dividends (note 19(c)) - - (734,397) - - - - (734,397)  (350,000) (1,084,397)

Increase in stockholders’ equity for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - -  5,000  5,000

-  1,911  (734,397) - - - -  (732,486)  (345,000)  (1,077,486)

Comprehensive income (note 3):

 Net income for the year - - 607,689 - - - - 607,689 539,825 1,147,514

 Cumulative effect of translation - - - - - - (8,332) (8,332) (8,332) (16,664)

 Change in valuation of derivative financial instruments - - - - - 18,410 - 18,410 11,973 30,383

 Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations - -  (4,507) - - - -  (4,507)  (2,037)  (6,544)

Comprehensive income for the year - -  603,182 - -  18,410  (8,332)  613,260  541,429  1,154,689

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 575,625 601,911 4,265,071 141,862 113,110 (19,114) (13,757) 5,664,708 6,465,314 12,130,022

Repurchase of outstanding shares (note 19(a)) - (237,141) - - - - - (237,141) - (237,141)

Placement of shares (note 19(a)) - 21,116 - - - - - 21,116 - 21,116

Payment of dividends (note 19(c)) - - - - - - - - (384,625) (384,625)

Reimbursement to stockholders for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - (28,500) (28,500)

Increase in stockholders’ equity for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - -  (11,068)  (11,068)

-  (216,025) - - - - -  (216,025)  (424,193)  (640,218)

Comprehensive income (note 3):

 Net income for the year - - 770,994 - - - - 770,994 733,294 1,504,288

 Cumulative effect of translation - - - - - - 97,487 97,487 97,487 194,974

 Change in valuation of derivative financial instruments - - - - - (7,768) - (7,768) (5,084) (12,852)

 Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations - -  (358) - - - -  (358)  66  (292)

Comprehensive income for the year - -  770,636 - -  (7,768)  97,487  860,355  825,763  1,686,118

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 $ 575,625  385,886  5,035,707  141,862  113,110  (26,882)  83,730  6,309,038  6,866,884  13,175,922

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of
changes in stockholders’ equity
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers.



 GRUPO HERDEZ | 100 YEARS CREATING OUR STORY

55

CAPITAL
STOCK

RESERVE FOR
REPURCHASE

OF SHARES

RETAINED
EARNINGSS

STATUTORY
RESERVE

PREMIUM ON
THE 

SUBSCRIPTION
OF SHARES

FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

CUMULATIVE
TRANSLATION
ADJUSTMENTS

CAPITAL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

CONTROLLING
INTEREST

CAPITAL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'

EQUITY

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 $ 575,625  600,000 4,396,286  141,862  113,110  (37,524)  (5,425)  5,783,934  6,268,885  12,052,819

Repurchase of outstanding shares (note 19(a)) -  (19,586) - - - - - (19,586) - (19,586)

Placement of shares (note 19(a)) - 21,497 - - - - - 21,497 - 21,497

Payment of dividends (note 19(c)) - - (734,397) - - - - (734,397)  (350,000) (1,084,397)

Increase in stockholders’ equity for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - -  5,000  5,000

-  1,911  (734,397) - - - -  (732,486)  (345,000)  (1,077,486)

Comprehensive income (note 3):

 Net income for the year - - 607,689 - - - - 607,689 539,825 1,147,514

 Cumulative effect of translation - - - - - - (8,332) (8,332) (8,332) (16,664)

 Change in valuation of derivative financial instruments - - - - - 18,410 - 18,410 11,973 30,383

 Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations - -  (4,507) - - - -  (4,507)  (2,037)  (6,544)

Comprehensive income for the year - -  603,182 - -  18,410  (8,332)  613,260  541,429  1,154,689

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 575,625 601,911 4,265,071 141,862 113,110 (19,114) (13,757) 5,664,708 6,465,314 12,130,022

Repurchase of outstanding shares (note 19(a)) - (237,141) - - - - - (237,141) - (237,141)

Placement of shares (note 19(a)) - 21,116 - - - - - 21,116 - 21,116

Payment of dividends (note 19(c)) - - - - - - - - (384,625) (384,625)

Reimbursement to stockholders for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - (28,500) (28,500)

Increase in stockholders’ equity for non-controlling interest - - - - - - - -  (11,068)  (11,068)

-  (216,025) - - - - -  (216,025)  (424,193)  (640,218)

Comprehensive income (note 3):

 Net income for the year - - 770,994 - - - - 770,994 733,294 1,504,288

 Cumulative effect of translation - - - - - - 97,487 97,487 97,487 194,974

 Change in valuation of derivative financial instruments - - - - - (7,768) - (7,768) (5,084) (12,852)

 Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations - -  (358) - - - -  (358)  66  (292)

Comprehensive income for the year - -  770,636 - -  (7,768)  97,487  860,355  825,763  1,686,118

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 $ 575,625  385,886  5,035,707  141,862  113,110  (26,882)  83,730  6,309,038  6,866,884  13,175,922

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Consolidated statements
of cash flows
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers.

2014 2013

Operating activities:

Income before income taxes $  2,268,483 1,683,979

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 302,587 292,908

Profit on sale of property, machinery and equipment (23,159) (13,515)

Net period cost 12,602 29,798

Interest income (23,399) (62,130)

Foreign exchange gain (144,874) (22,421)

Investment in subsidiaries and associates (414,334) (186,323)

Impairment losses on intangible assets 29,787         -       

Allowance for impairment 142,338         -       

Other expenses without cash flow         -       (3,257)

Cancellation of provisions (24,569)         -       

Employee statutory profit sharing 11,058 8,723

Interest expense  400,447  342,035

Subtotal 2,536,967 2,069,797

Decrease in accounts receivable 26,045 167,063

Decrease (increase) in inventories 46,750 (228,037)

Decrease (increase) in related parties, net 158,039 (15,429)

Increase in advanced payments and taxes recoverable (30,531) (21,030)

(Decrease) increase in suppliers (102,792) 103,612

(Decrease) increase in other accounts payable and creditors (25,387) 42,003

Income tax paid  (639,064)  (620,534)

Net cash provided by operating activities  1,970,027  1,497,445

Investing activities:

Business acquired         -       (2,886,768)

Increased equity interest in subsidiaries (42,116)         -       

Dividends received 129,577 305,267

Interest received 23,044 60,944

Acquisition of property, machinery and equipment (710,160) (889,911)

Proceeds from sale of property, machinery and equipment 160,661 139,796

Acquisition of intangibles  (40,138)         -       

Net cash used in investing activities  (479,132)  (3,270,672)

(Continued)
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2014 2013

Financing activities::

Cash in flow from issuance of certificados bursátiles 
(domestic bonds)

1,000,000 3,000,000

Proceeds from long-term bank loans 1,300,000 200,000

(Decrease) increase in capital stock on non-controlling interest (11,068) 5,000

Long-term bank loans paid (1,500,000) (389,640)

Other long-term liabilities 63,443 (47,707)

Repurchase of shares (237,141) (19,585)

Placement of shares 21,116 21,497

Interest paid (407,477) (320,223)

Dividends paid (171,500) (1,084,397)

Reimbursement to stockholders for non-controlling interest  (28,500)         -       

Net cash provided by financing activities  28,873  1,364,945

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,519,768 (408,282)

Effect from exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents  26,296  1,905

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,546,064 (406,377)

Cash and cash equivalents:

At beginning of the year  904,819  1,311,196

At end of the year $  2,450,883  904,819

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

These financial statements have been translated from the Spanish language original and for the convenience of foreign/English-speaking readers.

(1) Reporting entity- 

 Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. (the “Company”), is a company located in Mexico, which trade shares on the 

Mexican Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is at Calzada San Bartolo Naucalpan 360, Col. Ar-

gentina Poniente, Mexico, D.F., C.P. 11230. These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company 

and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group” and individually “the Group companies”) and the Group’s share 

on related entities and jointly controlled.  The Company is a 51.0% subsidiary of Hechos con Amor, S. A. de 

C. V., which is empowered to lead its operations.

 The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture, purchase, distribution and marketing of canned and 

packed food products in Mexico, as well as food products targeted at the Mexican food segment within the 

United States of America (USA). 

 The entities of Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. manufacture and commercialize products under the following 

trademarks: Aires de Campo, Barilla, Búfalo, Carlota, ChiChi’s, Del Fuerte, Don Miguel, Doña María, Emba-

sa, Herdez, La Victoria, McCormick, Wholly, Yemina and Nutrisa, among others.  For such purposes, Grupo 

Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. have forged alliances with leading companies worldwide, such as: McCormick and 

Company Inc., Hormel Foods Corp., Barilla GeR Fratelli S.p.A. and Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. (Grupo Kuo).

(2) Basis of preparation-

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Re-

porting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

 On February 26, 2015, the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements and notes thereto.

 In accordance with the Mexican Corporations Law (LGSM by its Spanish acronym) and the bylaws of Grupo 

Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V., the stockholders are empowered to modify the consolidated financial statements 

after issuance.  The accompanying consolidated financial statements will be submitted to the next Stock-

holders’ Meeting for approval.

 Details of the Group’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included in notes 2(d) and 3.
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(a)  Basis of Measurement-

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 

following significant items, which have been measured on an alternative basis on each date of the 

consolidated financial statements:

•  The defined benefit asset is recognized as plan assets, less the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation and is limited as explained in note (3(i)(ii)).

•  Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and recognized in the other comprehensive 

income when these are effective within the accepted range and qualify as hedge, otherwise these 

instruments will be recognized in the income statement.

•  Items of property, machinery and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses.

•  Bank loans and notes payable are recognized at their amortized cost.

(b) Functional and reporting currency-

 These consolidated financial statements are presented in Mexican pesos, which is the Company’s 

functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousands of Mexican pesos, unless 

otherwise indicated.

 In the case of the foreign entities of the joint venture  in the U.S., their financial statements are presented 

in the local currency, which is their functional currency, and they are converted to Mexican pesos allowing 

the Company to recognize their participation in such entities. 

 On December 19, 2013, the subsidiary in Spain decided to transfer its business address to Mexico, adopting 

for such effects the Mexican nationality and the figure of corporation with variable capital, as well as the 

Company’s name of “MARCAS HERDEZ “, keeping its functional currency, which is Mexican peso.

(c) Use of judgments and estimates-

 In preparing these consolidated financial statements according to IFRS, management has made 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Group´s accounting policies and 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 

recognized prospectively.

 Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect 

over the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements and estimates with a significant 

risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the next financial year are described in the next page:
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i) Consolidation of entities with no majority shareholding

 The Group analyzes the existence of control over those entities on which it does not have majority 

shareholding, evaluating if it is exposed or has rights to the variable yields from its involvement with 

the entity, and has the ability to affect yields through its power over the entity. If as a result from the 

analysis, the Group determines that it exercises control of these entities, they are consolidated within 

the Group.  If there are no signs of the existence of control on the entities, the investment in those 

associated companies is recognized under the equity method.

ii) Fair values determination

 The Group applies the guidelines of IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) to determine the 

fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value.  IFRS 13 does 

not require fair values in addition to those required or allowed by other IFRS and is not required to 

establish valuation standards or affect valuation practices outside of financial reporting.  Under IFRS, 

the fair value represents the “Selling Price”, which would be received from selling an asset or would 

be paid for transferring a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as at the date 

of valuation, considering the credit risk of the counterparty in the valuation.

 The concept of selling price is based on the assumption that there is a market and participants in such 

market for the specific asset or liability.  When there is no market and/or participants to form the mar-

ket, the IFRS 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy that organizes the inputs in the valuation techniques 

used to determine fair value. The hierarchy of highest priority is unadjusted quoted prices in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority is that of the 

calculations that have to do with inputs that are significant but unobservable (level 3 measurement).  

The three levels of hierarchy are as follows:

 � Level 1 inputs are active market prices (unadjusted) for identical assets and liabilities that the Group 

has the ability to negotiate on the measurement date.

 � Level 2 inputs are different from market prices, but are directly or indirectly observable for the asset 

or liability.

 � Level 3 inputs are those that are unobservable for the asset or liability.

iii) Fair value of derivative financial instruments

 The fair values of derivative instruments traded on recognized markets are determined based on quo-

tations issued by these markets. In those cases in which the instruments are traded on OTC market 

(“Over The Counter”), the fair value of the financial instruments is estimated on the basis of valuation 

technical models accepted in the financial arena, mainly using expected future cash flows discounted 

at present value and based on market information available at the valuation date.
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 In determining the fair values, conditions and assumptions are used, mainly based on rate models 

based on TIIE 28, the Mexican Average Interbank Interest Rate (TIIE per its Spanish acronym) and 

exchange rate MXP/USD available at the valuation date.

 The Company has conducted the effectiveness tests required to comply with hedge accounting, 

which fall within the ranges allowed under IFRS.

iv) Useful lives and fair value of property, machinery and equipment

 The Group determines the useful lives of its assets based on their best estimate of the periods during 

which economic benefits are expected to be obtained from such assets.

v) Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with undefined useful lives

 In the case of goodwill and intangible assets with undefined useful lives, the impairment test is per-

formed annually on the same dates.  In evaluating the value in use, estimated future cash flows are 

discounted at their present value, using a discount rate before taxes that reflects the market evalua-

tions of the value of the money over time, taking into account the specific risks inherent to the asset.  

For impairment testing purposes, assets that cannot be tested individually are integrated in smaller 

groups of assets that generate cash inflows from on-going use and that are, for the most part, inde-

pendent from the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash generating unit”).  For 

impairment testing purposes, goodwill is distributed to the group of cash generating units expected 

to benefit from the synergies of such combination.  This distribution is subject to operating segment 

ceiling testing and reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting pur-

poses.  Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recorded with 

respect to the cash generating units are distributed first to reduce the carrying value of any goodwill 

distributed to the units and subsequently to reduce the carrying value of other assets in the unit 

(group of units) on a pro rata basis.  No goodwill-related impairment loss is reverted.

vi) Determination of employee benefits

 Direct benefits are applied in the income statement as they arise and the related liabilities are stated 

at their nominal value, due to their short-term nature.  The Group’s net obligations with respect to 

defined benefit pension plans are calculated separately for each plan, estimating the amount of the 

future benefit earned by employees in return for their services in the current and past periods; this 

benefit is discounted to determine its present value and the fair value of plan assets is deducted.  

The discount rate is calculated on the basis of zero coupon government bonds with maturity term 

resembling those of the Group’s obligations and that are determined in the same currency in which 

the benefits are expected to be paid.  The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary, 

using the projected unit credit method.

vii) Impairment of accounts receivable

 On each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether or not there is objective evidence that its ac-

counts receivable are impaired, which includes defaulting or late payment by a debtor, or the restruc-

turing of an amount due to the Group.  The Company considers evidence of impairment of accounts 

receivable at both the specific asset level and collective.  All accounts receivable considered significant 

individually are evaluated for possible specific impairment.  All accounts receivable evaluated that are 
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not specifically impaired are subsequently evaluated collectively to identify impairment that may have 

occurred and, that has not yet been identified.  Accounts receivables not significant individually are 

evaluated collectively for possible impairment, by grouping the accounts showing similar risk features.  

In evaluating collective impairment, the Group uses the historical trends of the likelihood of default, 

timing of recoveries and losses incurred, adjusted as a result of the analysis conducted by Management 

to determine whether or not current economic and credit conditions are such, that actual losses are 

likely to be higher or lower than those the historical trends suggest.

(d) Changes in accounting policies-

 Except for the changes shown below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in 

note 3 to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

 The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards and new interpretations with a date of 

initial application of January 1, 2014.

a. Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)

b. Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non- Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36).

 The nature and effects of the changes are explained below:

a) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

 As a result of the amendments to IAS 32, the Group has expanded its disclosures regarding offsetting 

financial assets and financial liabilities.  (Note 5).

b) Disclosures of recoverable amount for Non-Financial Assets

 As a result of amendments to IAS 36, the Group has expanded its disclosures of recoverable amount 

when they are based on fair value less cost of disposals and recognized an impairment (see note 11).
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(3) Significant accounting policies-

 The following accounting policies set out have been applied consistently to all the periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group’s entities:

(a) Consolidation basis-

(i) Businesses combinations-

 The Group accounts for businesses combinations using the acquisition method when control is trans-

ferred to the Group (see (a) (iii)). 

 The consideration transferred in the acquisition and the identificable net assets acquired are genera-

lly measured at fair value. Any determined goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment (see 

(h) (iii)).  Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognized in the income statement, immediately.

 The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are recognized in the income statement. 

 Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, incurred 

by the Group in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

 Some contingent payable considerations are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. In other 

cases, subsequent changes in fair value in the contingency are recognized in the income statement.

(ii) Non-controlling interest-

 For each business combination, the Group measures any non-controlling interest in the investee at: 

 �  Fair value, or

 � The proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company, which are generally 

at fair value. 

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 

for as equity transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate 

amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.  No adjustments are made to goodwill nor any gain or loss 

is recognized in the income statement.

(iii) Subsidiaries-

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 

or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 

control ceases.



Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

64

Country
where it was

incorporated

December
2014

December
2013

Note

FOOD PRODUCTS:

Herdez Del Fuerte and subsidiaries (HDF) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

Herdez Del Fuerte-

Manufacturing and marketing:

Herdez S. A. de C. V. - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Hersea, S. A. de C. V. - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Compañía Comercial Herdez, S. A. de C. V.- Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Corfuerte, S. A. de C. V. - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Marcas Herdez, S. A. de C. V.- Subsidiary Mexico 100% - 1

Herdez Marcas, S. L. .- Subsidiary Spain - 100% 1

Intercafé, S. A. de C. V. (Intercafé) -Joint venture Mexico 50% 50% 2

Aires de Campo, S. A. de C. V. - Subsidiary Mexico 92.62% 50% 1

Incubadora Orgánica, S. A. de C. V. - Joint venture Mexico 50% - 2

Authentic Acquisition Corporation (AAC) USA 100% 100% 1, 3

Authentic Speciality Foods (ASF) USA 100% 100% 1, 3

Megamex Foods, LLC – Joint Venture USA 50% 50% 2, 3

Megamex Holding Inc. – Joint Venture USA 50% 50% 2, 3

Don Miguel Foods Corp. – Joint Venture USA 50% 50% 2, 3

Avomex Inc. – Joint Venture USA 50% 50% 2, 3

Avomex Internacional, S. A. de C. V. Mexico 50% 50% 2, 3

Avomex Service, S. de R. L. de C. V. Mexico 50% 50% 2, 3

Avomex Importación y Exportación Limitada Chile 50% 50% 2, 3

Services provider:

Corporativo Cinco, S. A. de C. V. (Corporativo) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Campomar, S. A. de C. V. (Campomar) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Hersail, S. A. de C. V. (Hersail) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Herventa, S. A. de C. V. (Herventa) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

 The following table shows the detail of the Group’s significant subsidiaries and joint ventures, as well 

as the ownership percentage it has on each of them:
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Country
where it was

incorporated

December
2014

December
2013

Note

Lessors:

Alimentos Del Fuerte, S. A. de C. V. (Alimentos Del Fuerte) - 
Subsidiary

Mexico 99.70% 99.70% 1

McCormick de México, S. A. de C. V. (McCormick) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

Barilla México, S. A. de C. V. (Barilla México) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

Serpasta, S. A. de C. V. (Serpasta) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

Hormel Alimentos, S. A. de C. V. (Hormel Alimentos) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

GRUPO NUTRISA

Grupo Nutrisa and subsidiaries - Subsidiary (a) Mexico 99.87 99.87% 1

Marketing:

Nutrisa, S. A. de C. V. (Nutrisa) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Bases y Productos Naturales La Planta, S. A. de C. V. (La Planta) 
- Subsidiary

Mexico 100% 100% 1

Nutricomercializadora, S. A. de C. V. (Nutricomercializadora)  
- Subsidiary

Mexico 100% 100% 1

Yogurt Helado Yozen, S. A. de C. V. (Yozen) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1,5

Alimentos Benefits, S. A. de C. V. (Benefits) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Bioselect Productos Selectos, S. A. de C. V. (Bioselect)  
- Subsidiary

Mexico 100% 100% 1, 5

Operadora Nutrisa, S. A. de C. V. (Operadora) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1, 5

Nutrisa USA, LLC. (Nutrisa USA) - Subsidiary USA 100% 100% 1

Services:

Servinutrisa, S. A. de C. V. (Servinutrisa) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Servicios Corporativos el Panal, S. A. de C. V. Subsidiaria Mexico 100% - 1

Real-Estate Group:

Inmobiliaria Nutrisa, S. A. de C. V. (real-estate) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1, 6

Promociones Inmobiliarias Naturistas, S. A. de C. V. (Promotion) 
- Subsidiary

Mexico 100% 100% 1

Nutrinmuebles, S. A. de C. V. (Nutrinmuebles) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1, 5

(a) Acquisition carried out in the 2013 period.

SERVICES:

Litoplas, S. A. de C. V. (Litoplas) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Seramano, S. A. de C. V. (Seramano) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Herdez Capital, S. A. de C. V. SOFOM, E.N.R. (Herdez Capital)  
- Subsidiary 

Mexico 100% 75% 1

Fábrica de Envases del Pacífico, S. A. de C. V. - Joint Venture Mexico 50% 50% 1

(Continued)
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(iv) Loss of control-

 When the Group loses control over any given subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of 

the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting 

gain or loss is recognized in the income statement.  Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is 

measured at fair value when control is lost.

(v) Investments in associated entities and jointly controlled entities (equity method)-

 The associated entities are those entities in which the Group has a significant influence, but not con-

trol nor joint control, over the financial and operating policies.  The joint ventures are those entities 

in which the Group has joint control over its activities, through which the Group is entitled to the net 

assets of the agreement and not entitled to its assets and obligations for liabilities, established by 

contractual agreement and unanimous consent to take financial decisions and strategic operations.

 The investments in associated entities and joint venture are recognized by the equity method and are 

initially recorded at cost.  The investment cost includes the transaction costs.

 The consolidated financial statements include the interest of the Group in the profits or losses and 

other comprehensive income of investments accounted by the equity method, after performing the 

adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant 

influence and the joint venture begins and until these are finished.

Country
where it was

incorporated

December
2014

December
2013

Note

REAL-ESTATE GROUP:

Herport, S. A. de C. V. (Herport) - Subsidiary Mexico 50% 50% 1

Alimentos HP, S. A. de C. V. (Alimentos) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Comercial de Finanzas Netesa, S. A. de C. V. (Netesa) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Energía Para Conservas S. A. de C. V. - Subsidiary Mexico 90% 90% 2, 4

Quicolor de México, S. A. de C. V. (Quicolor) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Promotora Hercal, S. A. de C. V. (Hercal) - Subsidiary Mexico 100% 100% 1

Herpons Continental, S. A. de C. V. (Herpons Co.) –Subsidiary  Mexico 100% 100% 1

(1) Consolidated Entity.

(2) Entity recognized under the equity method.

(3) Financial Statements from December 1, 2013 to November 30, 2014

(4) This entity is not material for the consolidated financial statements, it is not consolidated and it is recognized under the equity method.

(5) Merged Entity in March 2014 with Nutrisa, S. A. de C. V., the latter acting as the merging company.

(6) Merged Entity in March 2014 with Promociones Inmobiliarias Naturistas, S. A. de C. V., the latter acting as the merging company.
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 When the portion of losses of the Group exceeds its interest in an investment recognized by the 

equity method, the carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investment, is reduced 

to zero and the recognition of more losses is discontinued except if the Group has an obligation or 

has made payments on behalf of the company it participates in.

(vi) Transactions eliminated in the consolidation-

 Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from in-

tra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized profits arising from transactions with companies 

which investment is recognized by the equity method are eliminated from the investment in the pro-

portion of the Group’s participation in the investment.  Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same 

way as unrealized profits, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(vii) Discontinued operations-

 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that has been disposed, where, the 

operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

 � Represents either a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 

 � Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose a separate major line of business or geographic area 

of operation that is significant and can be separated from the rest; or

 � Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with the purpose of re-sale.

 Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation 

meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.

 When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of income 

statement and other comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had been disconti-

nued from the begining of the comparative year.

(b) Foreign currency-

(i) Foreign currency transactions-

 Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the respective functional currency of Group com-

panies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 

currency at the exchange rate at the consolidated financial statements date.  

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
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 Foreign currency differences arising from translation of the following items are recognized in other 

comprehensive income:

 � Available-for-sale equity investments (except for impairment, in which case foreign currency 

differences that have been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the 

income statement). 

 � A financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent 

that the hedge is effective. 

 � Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective. 

(ii) Foreign operations-

 Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated into Mexican pesos at the exchange rates on the consolidated financial 

statements date. Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Mexican pesos at 

the exchange rates at the date of transactions.

 Foreign currency translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumu-

lated in the translation reserve, except when the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling 

interest.

 On a complete or partial foreign business disposal on which control, significant influence or joint 

control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is 

reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  If the Group disposes of part of its 

interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 

reattributed to non-controlling interest.  When the Group disposes only part of an associate or joint 

venture while retaining significant influence or joint control, the corresponding proportion of the total 

amount is reclassified to the income statement.

(c) Financial instruments-

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair 

value through income statement, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-

sale financial assets.

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.

(i) Financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities – Recognition and derecognition-

 The Group initially recognizes loans and trade account receivables on the date when they are origi-

nated. All the other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value with changes in income) 
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are initially recognized on the trade date when the Group becomes a party to the instrument’s con-

tractual provisions.

 The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any 

interest in such derecognized financial assets created or retained by the Group is recognized as a 

separate asset or liability.

 The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are paid or cancelled, or 

expire.

 Financial assets and liabilities are subject to be offset being the net amount presented in the state-

ment of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

intends to settle the net amount or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets-

 Loans and accounts receivables

 Loans and accounts receivable are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

traded in an active market. These assets are initially recognized at fair value, plus any directly attri-

butable transaction cost. Loans and accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost by using 

the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Loans and accounts receivable include trade 

accounts receivable and other accounts receivable. 

 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three mon-

ths or less from the date of acquisition subject to exchange effects in fair value and are used by the 

Group in the Management of its short-term commitments.

 The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet includes restricted cash and invest-

ments, comprised of deposits in margin accounts that guarantee several Group obligations, to the 

extent that the restriction will be lifted in less than three months from the balance sheet date.  When 

the restriction period is greater than three months, such restricted cash and investments are not con-

sidered cash equivalents and are included within short-term or long-term “Debtors” as appropriate.

(iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities-

 Initially, the Group recognizes the debt securities issued at the date on which they are generated.  

All the other financial liabilities are initially recognized on the contracting date on which the Group 

becomes a party to the instrument’s contractual provisions.

 The Group eliminates a financial liability when its contractual obligations are cancelled, or expired.

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities in the category of other financial liabilities.
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 Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value without any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured amortized cost 

using the effective interest method.

 Other financial liabilities consist of notes payable, suppliers and other accounts payable and stock 

market certificates.

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting-

 The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk 

exposures.

 In addition, the Group holds derivative to hedge the price of the raw materials (Commodities), which 

are designated in a formal hedging relationship.

 In the initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship between the 

hedging instrument(s) and the item(s) covered, including the risk management objectives and stra-

tegy when entering the hedging transactions, as well as the methods to be used in assessing the 

effectiveness of the hedge relationship. The Group conducts an evaluation at the outset of the hed-

ge operation (prospectively) and subsequent on-going evaluations (retrospectively), if the hedging 

instruments are expected to be highly effective to offset the changes in fair value of the primary 

positions during the period for which the hedge is designated, and if each hedge’s actual results are 

within a range of 80-125 percent.

 Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recogni-

zed in the income statement as incurred.  Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured 

at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognized in the income statement; in case they are 

designed in a cash flow hedge, changes are recognized in other comprehensive income.

 Cash flow hedges-

 When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of the chan-

ges in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated 

in the hedging reserve.  Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is 

recognized immediately in the income statement.

 When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accrued in the stockholders’ equity is 

maintained in other comprehensive income and it is reclassified to income statement in the same 

period when the hedged item affects the income statement.  In other cases, the amount accrued in 

stockholders’ equity is reclassified to the income in the same period when the hedged item affects 

the income statement.
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 If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, ter-

minated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued pros-

pectively.  If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in 

equity is reclassified to the income statement.

 Embedded derivatives-

 Embedded derivatives are separated from the main contract and recorded separately if: 

 � The characteristics and risks of the main contract and the embedded derivative are not closely 

related. 

 � A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative could meet the characteristics 

of a derivative. 

 � The combined instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in income statement.

 Derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging-

 When a derivative financial instrument is not designated for a hedging qualifying relationship all 

changes in fair value are immediately recognized in income statement.

(v) Equity-

 Ordinary shares-

 Ordinary shares are classified in stockholders’ equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to issue 

of ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognized as a deduction from equity.

 Repurchase and reissue of ordinary shares (treasury shares)-

 When shares recognized as stockholders’ equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration 

paid, which includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effect, is recognized as a deduction 

from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury 

shares reserve. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is re-

cognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented 

within share premiums.

 Capital stock, the reserve for the purchase of shares, the statutory reserve, the premium on the subs-

cription of shares and accrued profits are stated as follows: i) movements made from January 1, 1998 

at their historical cost, and ii) movements made prior to January 1, 1998 at their restated historical 

values by applying factors derived from the NCPI until December 31, 1997.

(d) Property, machinery and equipment-

(i) Recognition and measurement-

 Items of property, machinery and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses.
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 The cost includes expenses directly attributable to acquisition of the asset.  The cost of assets built 

by the entity includes the following:

 � The cost of materials and direct labor. 

 � Any other costs directly attributable to making the asset suitable to a working condition for its 

intended use. 

 � When the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs 

of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site where they are located. 

 � The capitalized loan costs.

 At December 31 2014 and 2013, there are no qualifying assets where capitalized financing cost exist.  

Acquired software, which is part of the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of 

such equipment. 

 If significant parts of an item of property, machinery and equipment have different useful lives, they 

are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, machinery and equipment.

 Any gain or loss on the disposal of an item of property, machinery and equipment (determined as 

the difference between the proceeds obtained from the sale and the book value for such item) are 

recognized in the proceeds statement.

(ii) Subsequent costs-

 Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits asso-

ciated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

 Continuous repairs and maintenance are expensed in income statement as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation-

 Items of property, machinery and equipment are depreciated from the date on which they are insta-

lled and ready for their use or in the case of assets internally built, from the date on which the asset is 

completed and ready to be used.

 Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of property, machinery and equipment less 

their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is 

generally recognized in the income statement.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 

lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by 

the end of the lease term.  Land is not depreciated.
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 The estimated useful lives of property, machinery and equipment for current and comparative pe-

riods of the significant items are as follows:

Years

Buildings 20 - 33

Machinery and tools 10 - 14

Fishing equipment 14 - 17

Furniture and office equipment 12

Stowing and transportation equipment 4 - 10

Electronic data processing equipment 4

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each date of the consolidated 

financial statements and adjusted, if appropriate.

(e) Intangible assets and goodwill-

(i) Goodwill-

 Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses.

(ii) Subsequent measurement-

 Goodwill is recognized at cost, less accumulated impairment losses. In relation with the investments 

recognized under the equity method, the book value of goodwill is included in the book value of the 

investment, and any impairment loss is distributed to the book value of the investment recognized 

under the equity method as a whole.

(iii) Intangible assets with defined life-

 Intangible assets acquired by the Group consisting of non-competition agreements, developed te-

chnology and customer relationships that have defined useful lives are recorded at cost, less accu-

mulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  The aforementioned does not refer to 

intangible assets internally developed as they arise from acquisitions made.

(iv) Intangible assets with undefined useful lives-

 Intangible assets with undefined useful lives correspond to patents and trademarks, involving no 

legal, regulatory, contractual, economic or other factors that might limit their useful lives, and which 

are expected to generate future cash flows, which are not conditioned to a limited period of time, and 

are thus subject to annual impairment testing under IFRS.
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(v) Subsequent expenditures-

 A subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits em-

bodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, including expenditures on 

internally generated trademarks and goodwill, are recognized in income statement. Goodwill is not 

amortized.

(vi)  Amortization-

 Amortization is calculated to write-off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values 

by using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in the 

income. 

 The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years

Non-competition agreements  2 - 3

Developed technology 8 - 20

Customer relationships 13 - 20

Lease rights and software 3

 Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each date of the consolidated 

statements of financial position and adjusted, if appropiate.

(f) Leasess-

Determining whether an agreement contains a lease

 At inception of an agreement, the Group determines whether the agreement is or contains a lease.

 The Group separates payments and other consideration required by the agreement, at the beginning 

of it or after making the proper review, between those derived from the lease and those derived from 

other elements, based on their relative fair values.  If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is 

impracticable to separate the payments reliably,  then an asset and a liability are recognized at an amount 

equal to the fair value of the underlying asset, subsequently, the liability is reduced by payments made 

recognizing the financial cost on the liability using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Leased assets

 Assets held by the Group under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and rewards 

of ownership are classified as financial leases.  The leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal 
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to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 

recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

 Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognized in the Group’s 

statement of financial position.

Lease payments

 Payments made under operating leases are recognized in income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, 

over the lease term.

 Minimum lease payments made under financial leases are apportioned between the finance expense and 

the reduction of liability balance. The financial expense is allocated to each period during the lease term in 

order to obtain a consistent interest rate on each period, over the remaining balance of the liability.

(g) Inventories-

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the 

first-in - first-out principle and includes disbursements incurred for the acquisition of inventories, production 

or manufacturing costs and other costs incurred to transport them to their site and current conditions. 

 In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, costs include an apropiate share of production 

overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

 The cost of inventory may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on the rated flow hedges of 

inventory purchases in foreign currency.

 Net realizable value is the estimated sale price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 

and the estimated necessary costs to close the sale.

(h) Impairment-

(i) Non-derivative financial assets-

 Financial assets not classified as at fair value through income statement, including an interest in an 

equity accounted subsidiary investee, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether or 

not there is objective evidence of impairment.

 Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

 � Default or non-compliance of a debtor;

 � Restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

 � Indications that a debtor or issuer will declare bankruptcy;

 � Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers;

 � The disappearance of an active market for a security; and 

 � Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the expected cash flows from a 

group of financial assets.
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 For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or 

prolonged fair value decrease below its cost.  The Group considers a decrease of 20% to be signifi-

cant and a period of nine months to be prolonged.

(ii) Financial assets measured at amortized cost-

 The Group considers evidence of impairment for the assets measured at amortized cost (loans and 

receivables and financial assets held to maturity) both an individual assets and at collective level. All 

receivables and investment securities held to maturity individually significant are assessed for specific 

impairment.  Those who are not specifically impaired are evaluated for collective impairment that 

has been incurred but not yet identified.  Assets that are not individually significant are collectively 

assessed for impairment by grouping assets with similar risk characteristics.

 In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries 

and the amount of loss incurred, and makes and adjust if current economic and credit conditions 

make probable that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical 

trends.

 An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses 

are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables 

or investment securities held to maturity. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized.  

When an event occurring after the impairment is recognized it causes the amount of impairment loss 

to decrease, the decrease is reversed in income.

(iii) Non-financial assets-

 At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its non-financial assets, excluding 

employee benefits, inventories and deferred tax assets, to determine whether is any indication of 

impairment exists.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

Goodwill and intangible assets with undefined useful lives are tested annually for impairment.

  For impairment testing, assets that cannot be individually tested are integrated in smaller groups 

of assets that generate cash inflows from on-going use and that are, for the most part, independent 

from the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets.  For the purposes of impairment testing of 

goodwill, goodwill acquired in a business acquisition is distributed to the group of cash generating 

units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 

fair value less costs to sell.  Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit. 
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 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) 

exceeds its recoverable amount.

 The Group’s corporate assets do not generate cash inflows separately.  If there is any indication that 

a corporate asset may be impaired, the recovery value of the cash-generating unit to which the cor-

porate asset pertains is then determined.

 Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 

amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis. 

 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  For other assets, an impairment loss is re-

versed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 

recognized.

(i) Employee benefits-

(i) Short-term benefits-

 Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided.  A liability is recogni-

zed for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 

estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined benefit plans-

 The Group’s net obligations in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan 

by estimating the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior 

periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. 

 The costs for prior services not yet recognized and the fair value of plan assets are deducted.  The 

discount rate is calculated on the basis of zero-coupon government bonds with maturity term resem-

bling those of the Group’s obligations and that are determined in the same currency in which the 

benefits are expected to be paid.  

 The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit method.  

When the result of the calculation is a benefit for the Group, the asset recognized is limited to the 

net total of prior-service costs not yet recognized and the present value of the economic benefits 

available, in the form of future reimbursements of the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 

plan. In calculating the present value of the economic benefits, the minimum funding requirements 

applicable to any of the Group’s plan must be considered.  The resulting increase in labor cost of the 

benefit obligation and expenditure by employees in the year are recognized in operating expenses.  

The financial cost associated with increased liability over time, as well as the expected return on the 

period of plan assets are recognized in the financial results.  An economic benefit is available to the 

Group if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or liquidation of the obligations of the plan.  When 

the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by 

employees is recognized in income using the straight-line basis over the average period until the 
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benefits are delivered.  To the extent that the benefits are immediately delivered, the expense is 

immediately recognized in income.

 The Group recognizes the actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in other com-

prehensive income and all expenses related to the defined benefit plans in the expenses for benefits 

to the employees in income.

 When having reductions or settlements in a defined benefit plan, the Group shall recognize gains or 

losses arising from there.  These gains or losses shall include any change that could result in the present 

value of the defined benefit obligations incurred by the entity, and any changes in the fair value of plan 

assets, any actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that had not been previously recognized.

(iii) Termination benefits-

 The benefits at the end of the employment relationship not associated with a restructuring event, 

such as severance payments are recognized in the income statement as incurred. 

(j) Allowances-

 An allowance is recognized if: it is a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or assumed 

obligation that can be reliably estimated, and will probably require the use of economic resources to settle 

the obligation. 

 The long-term allowances are determined by discounting future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market evaluation of the book value attributable to the time factor and risks specific to the liability.  

The unwinding of the discount is recognized as a financial cost.

Restructuring-

 The Group recognizes allowances for restructuring, when restructuring plans have been properly completed 

and approved by the Management, and have been reported to the third parties involved and/or affected 

before the date of the financial statements.

Contingencies and commitments-

 Obligations or losses related to contingencies are recognized as a liability when there is a present 

obligation resulting from past events and it is likely that the effects will materialize and can be measured 

reliably; otherwise they are qualitatively disclosed in the financial statements.  The effects of long-term 

commitments established with third parties, as in the case of supply contracts with suppliers or customers, 

are recognized in the financial statements considering the substance of the agreements based on what 

was incurred or accrued.  Relevant commitments are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  No 

income, profits or contingent assets are recognized.
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(k) Revenue-

Sale of goods-

 Income from the sale of goods during the course of ordinary operations is recognized at the fair value of 

the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade and volume discounts. 

 Revenue is recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customers, 

recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be 

estimated reliably, there is no continuing Management involvement with the goods, and the amount 

of revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured net of returns, trade discounts and volume 

rebates.

 The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales 

agreement.  Generally, the transfer takes place when the product is received at the customer’s warehouse. 

(l) Donations-

 To the extent the Group donations to social programs benefit the community in general, they are applied 

to income as incurred.

(m) Financial income and financial costs-

 Financial income includes interest income on invested funds, income on earnings and changes in the 

fair value of financial assets at fair value through income statement, as well as foreign exchange gains.  

Interest income is recognized at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Income on earnings 

are recognized in income on the date on which the Group’s right to receive payments is established, which 

for the aforementioned instruments corresponds to the date of income payment.

 Financial costs comprise the interest expense on loans, foreign exchange losses, changes in the fair value 

of financial liabilities at fair value through income.

 Costs of loans that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 

that qualifies, are applied to income using the effective interest method.

 Gains and losses on foreign currency for financial assets and financial liabilities are presented according to 

their profit or loss position. 

(n) Income tax-

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. It is recognized in income except to the 

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income.

(i) Current tax-

 Current tax comprise the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 

year and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. It is measured using 
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tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statements of financial position date.  Current tax 

also includes any tax arising from dividends.

(ii) Deferred tax-

 Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  

Deferred tax is not recognized for:

 � Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

 � Temporary differences related to the investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements 

to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal on the temporary differences 

and it is probable that they will not be reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

 � Taxable temporary differences arising on initial recognition of goodwill. 

 Assets and liabilities in deferred taxes are adjusted if there is an exigible legal right to adjust liabilities 

and assets for current tax, and are related to the income taxes imposed by the same tax authority 

on the same taxable entity or different tax entities, but intend to settle the liabilities and assets for 

current tax on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

 Deferred tax assets recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits, and deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

they can be used.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized; such reductions are 

reversed when the probability of future taxable profits exists.

 Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent 

that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period under review, to recover or 

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For this purpose, the carrying amount of invest-

ment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through sale.

 The effects of income taxes for uncertain tax positions are recognized when it is more likely than not 

that the position will be sustained on its technical merits and assuming that the authorities will review 

each position and have full knowledge of the relevant information.  These positions are valued based 

on the accumulated probability model. 
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 Each position is considered individually, without considering its relation to other fiscal procedure. The 

indicator of more likely than not represents a statement from management that the Group is entitled 

to the economic benefits of the tax position. If a tax position is not considered more likely than not to 

be sustained, the benefits of the position are not recognized. 

 The Group recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of the inco-

me tax expense in the consolidated income statements.

(o) Earnings per share-

 The Group presents information on basic Earnings per Share (EPS), and the diluted earning per share 

corresponding to its ordinary shares.  Basic EPS are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable 

to the holders of ordinary shares by a weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, 

adjusted by own shares held (see note 26).  As there are no dilutive effects, the basic earning per share and 

diluted earning is the same.

(p) Operating segments-

 Segment results that are reported to the Group General Manager (highest authority in making operating 

decisions) include items directly attributable to a segment, as well as those items that can be allocated 

on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s 

headquarters), the costs of the central office, and tax assets and liabilities.

(q) Comprehensive income-

 Comprehensive income is comprised of net income, the valuation of derivative financial instruments, 

translation effects and the results from actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations, which are reflected 

in stockholders’ equity, but which do not constitute capital contributions, reductions and/or distributions.

(4) Standards issued but not yet adopted and reclassifications-

 A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 

January 1, 2014; however, the Group has not applied the following new or amended standards in preparing 

these consolidated financial statements. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instrument-

 IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement. IFRS 

9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a 

new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge 

accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 

instruments from IAS 39.

 IFRS 9, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 or subsequently, with 

early adoption permitted.

 The Group is assessing the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the 

application of IFRS 9.



Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

82

 The following new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact of the Group’s con-

solidated financial statements.

• Accounting for Acquisitions of Interest in Joint Operations (Amendments to IAS 11).

• Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments to IAS 19 and 

IAS 38).

• Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19).

(b) Reclassifications-

 The consolidated financial statement as at December 31, 2013 were reclassified to make them comparable 

to 2014, mainly in the following concepts:

Previous 
reported
balances

Reclassification
Reclassified

balances

Cash $  886,680 18,139 (1) 904,819

Derivative financial instruments (asset)  25,055  (18,139) (1)  6,916

Related parties (asset) $  202,573 48,639 (2) 251,212

Related parties (liability)  -  48,639 (2)  48,639

Deferred income tax (asset) $  172,588 103,486 276,074

Deferred income tax (liability)  711,026  103,486  814,512

(1) Margin account.

(2) Related parties presentation.

(5) Financial instruments-

 The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, the risk of 

interest rates and the risk of fluctuation in the prices of raw materials), credit risk, liquidity risk and operational 

risk.  The overall risk management program considers the volatility of financial markets and seeks to minimize 

potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivatives financial instru-

ments to hedge certain risk exposures.

 Financial risk management is carried out in the Management and Finance Office, in accordance with policies 

approved by the Boards of Directors.  The entity identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
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operation with its subsidiaries.  The Boards of Directors have approved general written policies regarding to 

the financial risks management, including the risk of prices for certain raw materials and exchange rate risk.

 All derivative financial instruments contracted by the Company, are formally designated as hedging on the 

date of hiring under the cash flow model.

Derivative financial instruments on raw materials (commodities)-

 As part of the hedging strategy on raw materials during 2014 and 2013, the Company used derivative finan-

cial instruments to reduce the risk of price fluctuations. 

 The total value of contracts for hedging purposes to purchase raw materials effective as at December 31, 

2014 and 2013, are shown below:

Notional
 amount

Fair value

Instrument Counterparty (000'USD) (000'MXP)
Expiration

date
Position (000'USD) (000'MXP)

2014
Futures CME Clearing 16,161 238,241 Several Buy (long) (354) (5,224)

2013
Futures CME Clearing 5,953 77,783 Several Buy (long) (428) (5,596)

Options CME Clearing  150  1,961 Several Buy (long)  32  414

Derivative financial instruments on exchange rate-

 The Company is exposed in their raw material purchases and inputs sales of various products to the fluctua-

tion in the peso-U.S. dollar, reason why the Boards of Directors approved its strategy of risk management in 

order to limit the currency risk of such operations.

 As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the characteristics of the contracts designated as hedges are as follows:

Notional 
amount

Fair value

Instrument Counterparty (000'USD) (000'MXP)
Expiration

date
Position (000’MXP)

2014
Forwards National banks 3,000 44,005 Several Buy (long) 469

15,000 209,040 Several Sale (short) (13,757)

National banks 20,000 272,182 Several Buy (long) 23,171

 12,000  161,126 Several Sale (short)  (17,499)
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Notional 
amount Fair value

Instrument Counterparty (000'USD) (000'MXP)
Expiration

date
Position (000’MXP)

2013
Forwards National banks 2,500 32,663 Several Buy (long) 753

13,400 175,074 Several Sale (short) 3,805

National banks 4,500 58,793 Several Buy (long) 973

 19,550  255,425 Several Sale (short)  5,096

Derivative financial instruments on interest rates-

 In order to reduce the risk of adverse movements attributable to the interest rate profile contracted with 

financial institutions engaged in long-term debt bearing interest recognized in the consolidated financial 

statements, Company’s Management entered into an interest rate swap agreement which converts variable 

rate into fixed rate, which will be paid starting on July 2017, to December, 2019, the contract designated as 

a hedge is as follows:

Notional 
amount Fair value

Instrument Counterparty (000'MXP)
Expiration

date
Payable

rate
Receivable

rate
(000'MXP)

2014
Swap National banks  300,000 Dec 05-19 7.79% TIIE 91  (31,706)

2013
Swap National banks  300,000 Dec 05-17 7.79% TIIE 91  (31,921)

 As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group’s Management has evaluated the effectiveness of all hedging 

relationships both prospectively and retrospectively, concluding that these relationships are highly effective, 

and are within the range established by IFRS 80%-125%.

 The net effect recorded on the stockholders’ equity including deferred IT as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, 

for financial instruments hedging amounted to $(12,852) and $30,383, respectively.  The amount included on 

comprehensive income in the stockholders’ equity, will be recycled to income when the hedged item affects 

them; said amount is subject to changes due to market conditions. 

 Also, as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the amount recycled on the comprehensive income for cash flow 

hedging effects amounted to $11,733 and $(3,157), respectively.
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 The following table presents the periods in which the expected cash flows associated with the hedging re-

lationships cash flows are expected to occur and when it is expected to affect the income statement (which 

occurs simultaneously), as well as the book value to the hedging derivative financial instruments associated 

as at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

2014
Expected cash flows

Book
value

Total 1 year 2 years 3 years
More than

3 years 

SWAPS ON INTEREST RATES
LIABILITY

Liability $ (31,706) (33,674) (12,903) (9,880) (6,637) (4,254)

FORWARDS ON EXCHANGE 
RATES

Asset 23,641 23,699 23,699 -     -    -     

Liability (31,256) (31,595) (31,595) -     -    -     

FUTURES ON RAW MATERIALS

Asset 368 368 368 -     -    -     

Liability  (5,590)  (5,590)  (5,590)  -   -   -  

2013

SWAPS ON INTEREST RATES

Liability $  (31,921) (33,809) (11,701) (10,062) (7,263) (4,783)

FORWARDS ON EXCHANGE 
RATES

Asset 10,834 10,975 10,975 -     -    -     

Liability (207) (208) (208) -     -    -     

FUTURES ON RAW MATERIALS

Liability (5,596) (5,596) (5,596) -     -    -     

OPTIONS ON RAW MATERIALS

Asset  414  414  414  -   -   -  
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Fair values versus book values-

 The following table shows the book values and the fair value of the derivative and non-derivative assets and 

liabilities, including its hierarchy.  If the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 

is not included, is because the book value is an approximation of fair value: 

Book value (000’MXP) Fair value (000’MXP)

 

Hedging 
derivative 
financial 

instruments

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Derivative financial assets measured at fair value

Forwards on exchange rate 
hedging

$ 23,641 - 23,641 - 23,641 - 23,641

Hedging futures on raw 
materials

 368  -  368  368 - -  368

 24,009  -  24,009

Derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value

Forwards on exchange rate 
hedging

(31,256) -       (31,256) -   (31,256) -    (31,256)

Swaps on interest rate 
hedging

(31,706) -       (31,706) -   (31,706) -    (31,706)

Commodities futures 
hedging

 (5,590)  -  (5,590) -    (5,590) -     (5,590)

 (68,552)  -  (68,552)

Non-derivative financial liabilities non-measured at fair value 

Bank loans -       (600,000) (600,000) (694,567) (694,567)

Debit issuance: 

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 -       (596,602) (596,602) (643,262) (643,262)

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 -       (599,821) (599,821) (601,096) (601,096)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13 -       (1,991,275) (1,991,275) (2,164,485) (2,164,485)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2 -       (996,166) (996,166) (1,008,798) (1,008,798)

CEBURES HERDEZ 14  -  (996,615)  (996,615) (1,002,459) (1,002,459)

$ -         (5,780,479)  (5,780,479)

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Derivative financial assets measured at fair value 

Forwards on exchange rate 
hedging

$ 10,834 -       10,834 -    10,834 -   10,834

Options on Exchange rate 
hedging

 414  -  414 414 -     -   414

 11,248  -  11,248 -     -   
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Book value (000’MXP) Fair value (000’MXP)

 

Hedging 
derivative 
financial 

instruments

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value

Forwards on exchange rate 
hedging

(207) -       (207) -    (207) -   (207)

Swaps on interest rate 
hedging

(31,921) -       (31,921) -    (31,921) -   (31,921)

Commodities futures 
hedging

 (5,596)  -  (5,596)  (5,596) -     -    (5,596)

 (37,724)  -  (37,724) -     -   

Non-derivative financial liabilities non-measured at fair value 

Bank loans -     (800,000) (800,000) (918,746) -   (918,746)

Debit issuance:

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 -     (595,230) (595,230) (637,644) -   (637,644)

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 -     (598,656) (598,656) (603,099) -   (603,099)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13 -     (1,990,296) (1,990,296) (2,010,726) -   (2,010,726)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2  -         (995,188)  (995,188) (1,002,151) -   (1,002,151)

$ -         (4,979,370) (4,979,370)

(6) Financial risk management

General

 The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 – Credit risk

 – Liquidity risk

 – Market risk

 – Commodities risk

 – Capital management

 This note presents information on the Group’s exposure to each of the previously-mentioned risks, objec-

tives, policies and processes of the Group for measuring and managing risks, as well as for managing its 

capital.  More quantitative disclosures are included in the various sections of these consolidated financial 

statements.

Risk management framework-

 The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 

management framework.  The Board of Directors has established the Risk Management Committee, 

which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group´s risk management policies.  The commit-

tee report regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 

Group, to set appropiate risk limits and controls and monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk manage-

ment policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s 
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activities. The Group, through its standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive 

control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

 The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk man-

agement policies and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to 

the risk faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the internal audit. 

Internal audit conducts both routine and special inspections of risk management controls and procedures, 

the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

i) Credit risk-

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a costumer or counterparty for a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations, and arises mainly from the Group’s accounts receivable and the invest-

ment instruments of the Group. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

 Accounts receivable

 The credit risk represents the risk of financial loss for the Group, if a customer or counterparty of a financial 

instruments defaults on its contractual obligations, and arises mainly from the client accounts receivable.

 The Risk Management Committee has implemented a credit policy under which each new customer is 

analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and 

conditions are offered.  The Group’s review includes external ratings, if they are available, and in some cases 

bank references.  Sale limits are established for each customer and reviewed quarterly, that represents the 

maximum open amount that does not require approval from the Risk Management Committee.  Customers 

failing to meet the Company’s credit reference requirements can only conduct operations with the Group 

through upfront payments.

 More than 95% of the Group’s customers have been transacting with the Group for more than four years, 

and no impairment loss has been recognized against these customers. In monitoring customer credit risks, 

customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or a 

legal entity, whether they are a wholesaler, retail or an end-user customer, their geographic location, industry, 

years in business, maturity and existence of prior financial difficulties. 
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Carrying amount

2014 2013

Wholesale customers $  1,534,04 1 1,582,137

Retail customers 5,116 1,367

End-user customers 30,753 29,295

Other   27,336  35,027

Total $  1,597,246  1,647,826

 At December 31, 2014, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables by counterparty 

type was as follows: 

• At December 31, 2014, the Group’s most significant customer, accounted for 26% of the trade and other 

receivables carrying amount (2013: 25%).

• Customers classified as “high risk” are included in a list of restricted customers and they are monitored 

by the Risk Management Committee. 

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the aging of trade and other receivables was as follows: 

2014 2013

Current portfolio $ 1,123,664 1,016,393

Past-due portfolio 1-30 314,566 467,340

Past-due portfolio 31-60 82,103 117,698

Past-due portfolio 61-90 35,612 16,087

Past-due portfolio +90 42,293 32,001

Legal portfolio  8,161  7,910

Total portfolio 1,606,399 1,657,429

Estimated portfolio of doubtful accounts  (9,153)  (9,603)

Total trade receivables $ 1,597,246  1,647,826

 The allowance for doubtful accounts movement for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as 

follows: 

2014 2013

Allowance as at January 1 $ 9,603 9,245

(Applications) additions  (450)  358

Allowance as at December 31 $ 9,153  9,603

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had certain accounts receivable that were not past due or 

impaired.  The credit quality for said accounts receivable shows no signs of impairment, as income is obtained 

from a broad variety of customers ranging from supermarkets, wholesalers and stores. The Company’s 

customer portfolio is mainly comprised of wholesalers and self-service stores, which entails similar credit 
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risk conditions and accounts for 96% and 96% of the overall portfolio in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  At 

December 31, 2014 and 2013, none of the aforementioned accounts receivable showed default; however, 

Company Management has recognized an allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts past due and in 

legal process, that could represent impairment.

 Cash and investment in securities

 The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $2,450,833 as of December 31, 2014 (2013 $904,819).  The cash 

and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institutions, which are rated between the rank AA- and 

AA+.

 Guarantees

 Cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash as follows:

 Margin account held for commodities operation $37,222 as at December 31, 2014 (2013 $18,139).

 Trust account by $33,332 at December 31, 2014 (2013 $29,886).

 Derivatives

 The derivatives are entered into with  bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated between 

the range AA- and AA+, according to various rating agencies.

 The book value of derivative and non-derivative financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure 

of the Group:

Book value (000'MXP) 

Derivative financial hedging 
instruments

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Derivative financial assets measured at fair value

Forwards on exchange rate hedging $ 23,641

Futures on raw materials   368

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Derivative financial assets measured at fair value

Forwards on exchange rate hedging $ 10,834
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ii) Liquidity risk-

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated witch 

its financial liabilities that are settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s approach 

to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 

when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 

risking the Group’s reputation.

 The Group uses activity based costing to cost its products and services, which assist it in monitoring cash flow 

requirements and optimizing its cash return on investments. 

 Normally, the Group ensures that it has sufficient available cash to cover expected operating expenses for a 

60-day period, which includes payment of its financial obligations.  The aforementioned excludes the possi-

ble impact of extreme circumstances that are not reasonably predictable, such as natural disasters.

 Exposure to liquidity risk

 A table with a summary of the outstanding financial liabilities of payment, including interest payable at each 

future expiration date corresponding to December 31, 2014 and 2013, is shown below:

Contractual cash flows

Book 
value

Total
2 months
or less

2 months
to 1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 3 
years

More than
3 years

DECEMBER 31, 2014  

Derivative financial liabilities

Swaps on interest rates $ (31,706) (33,674) (3,397) (9,505) (9,880) (6,637) (4,255) 

Forwards on exchange rate (31,256) (31,595) (6,208) (25,387) -     -     -        

Future on raw materials (5,590) (5,590) -    (5,590) -     -     -        

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities

Bank debt (600,000) (819,734) (11,163) (34,865) (52,429) (155,684) (565,592) 

Debit issuance: 

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 (596,602) (744,326) -    (48,109) (48,109) (648,108) -        

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 (599,821) (603,652) -    (603,652) -     -     -        

CEBURES HERDEZ 13 (1,991,275) (3,459,640) -    (162,182) (162,182) (162,182) (2,973,094)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2 (996,166) (1,222,015) (5,670) (36,625) (53,109) (62,637) (1,063,974)

CEBURES HERDEZ 14  (996,615)  (1,150,918)  (5,693)  (233,514)  (239,152)  (234,378)  (438,181)
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Contractual cash flows

Book 
value

Total
2 months
or less

2 months
to 1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 3 
years

More than
3 years

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Derivative financial liabilities

Swaps on interest rates $  (31,921) (33,810) (2,856) (8,846) (10,062) (7,263) (4,783)

Forwards on exchange rate (207) (208) (197) (10) -      -      -       

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank debt (800,000) (1,104,976) (14,069) (45,313) (254,673) (57,606) (733,315)

Debit issuance:

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 (595,230) (792,435) -     (48,109) (48,109) (48,109) (648,109)

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 (598,656) (632,054) (4,098) (23,371) (604,585) -      -       

CEBURES HERDEZ 13 (1,990,296) (3,621,822) -     (162,182) (162,182) (162,182) (3,135,276)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2  (995,188)  (1,304,639)  (6,740)  (38,362)  (51,968)  (61,644)  (1,145,925)

iii) Market risk-

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and ma-

terials costs, affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The purpose of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while 

optimizing the return.

 The Group uses derivatives to manage market risks and it also incurs in financial obligations, such transac-

tions are carried out within the guidelines set by the Risk Management Committee.  Generally, the Group 

seeks to apply hedge accounting to mitigate volatility in income statement. 

 It is noteworthy that Grupo Herdez also has the risk of price changes in raw materials which is why the Com-

pany operates with future derivatives.

 Currency risk-

 The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a difference between the currencies in which 

sales, purchases and loans are denominated and the functional currency of the Group, which is the Mexican 

peso.  The main currency in which these transactions are denominated is the U.S. dollar (US$).

 Through hedging, the Group protects its estimated exposure to variations in exchange rates with respect to 

purchases projected with suppliers, denominated in foreign currency.  The Group uses “forwards” exchange 

rate contracts to hedge its currency risk, most with maturities of less than one year from the reporting date. 
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 In respect to other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that 

its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at exchange rates of 

transactions in cash or “spot” to cover incidentals in short-term.

 Exposure to currency risk

 The summarized quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the Manage-

ment of the Group is as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

MXN USD MXN USD

Trade receivables 335,143 22,745 348,453 26,670

Trade payables  (1,171,284)  (79,491)  (1,058,670)  (81,030)

Net statement of financial 
Position exposure

(836,141) (56,746)    (710,217) (54,360)

Held to maturity agreements in 
foreign currency

 (205,816)  (13,968)  -   -  

Net exposure  (1,041,957)  (70,714)  (710,217)  (54,360)

 The following significant exchange rates have been applied during the year:

Average
exchange rate

Exchange rate at
December 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

U.S. dollar $  13.3043  12.7700  14.7348  13.0652

 Sensitivity analysis

 A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the US dollar, against all other currencies at Decem-

ber 31 would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency 

and affected equity and income statement by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 

other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecasted sales and 

purchases.

Profit or loss Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 

DECEMBER 31, 2014 15.4715 13.9981

USD (5%movement)  (1,098,024)  (993,450)  (36,601)  36,601

DECEMBER 31, 2013 13.7185 12.4119

USD (5%movement)  (745,735)  (674,713)  (35,518)  35,518
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 Derivative financial Instruments-

Year Instrument
Notional
amount
(000'USD)

2014 Forward (buy) 23,000

Forward (sale) (27,000)

Commodities  16,161

2013 Forward (buy) 7,000

Forward (sale) (32,950)

Commodities 5,953

Options commodities  426

 A sensitivity analysis over derivative assets and liabilities and non-derivative instruments denominated in 

foreign currencies at December 31, 2014 and 2013, is shown below, if the peso were to increase or decrease 

+$1.00, +/- $ 1.50 showing the changes that would be in exposure to this risk.

Derivative financial instruments

Increase Decrease

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Effect in 000’ MXP + $ 1.50 + $ 1.00 - $ 1.00 - $ 1.50

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forwards buy $ 34,491 22,994 (22,994) (34,491)

Forwards sale (40,447) (26,965) 26,965 40,447

Futures on commodities  (532)  (354)  354  532

Total $ (6,488)  (4,325)  4,325  6,488

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Effect in 000’ MXP + $ 0.50 + $ 0.25 - $ 0.50 - $ 1.00

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forwards buy $ 3,499 1,749 (3,499) (6,998)

Forwards sale (16,452) (8,226) 16,452 32,903

Futures on commodities (5,805) (5,697) (5,376) (5,162)

Options on commodities  16  8  (16)  (32)

Total $ (18,742)  (12,166)  7,561  20,711

 This analysis assumes that all other factors remain constant.
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Interest rate risk-

 The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on loans to be at a fixed 

rate and variable rate.  This is through a concentration of interest rate hedge operations (swaps).

 In addition, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in rates on financial liabilities: Bank debt and debt issuance.

 Exposure to interest rate risk

 The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management 

of the Group is as follows:

Nominal amount

2014 2013

FIXED-RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities $ (2,600,000)  (2,600,000)

VARIABLE-RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities $ (3,200,000)  (2,400,000)

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments

 A sensitivity analysis considering various scenarios (+/- 50 points basis and +/- 100 point basis) to the instru-

ments that are exposed to the interest rate risk, in this particular case TIIE, is shown below.  It is noteworthy 

that this analysis was performed on the fair values of the various instruments:

December 31, 2014 Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb +50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 $  15,330 7,725 (7,845) (15,809)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13  131,818  67,312  (70,117)  (143,039)

Total $  147,148  75,037  (77,962)  (158,848)

December 31, 2013 Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb +50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

CEBURES HERDEZ 10 $  (19,844) (10,023) 10,223 20,648

CEBURES HERDEZ 13  (128,862)  (65,919)  68,896  140,769

Total $  (148,706)  (75,942)  79,119  161,417
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 Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments

 A sensitivity analysis considering various scenarios (+/- 50 points basis and +/- 100 point basis) to the instru-

ments that are exposed to the interest rate risk for variable-rate, in this particular case TIIE, is shown below.  

It is noteworthy that this analysis was performed on the fair values of the various instruments:

December 31, 2014 Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP +100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb -100 pb

Bank debt $  1,555 786 (803) (1,625)

Debit issuance:

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 731 365 (366) (732)

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2 35,844 18,099 (18,454) (37,263)

CEBURES HERDEZ 14  26,587  13,413  (13,654)  (27,548)

Total $  64,717  32,663  (33,277)  (67,168)

December 31, 2013 Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP +100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb -100 pb

Bank debt $  (2,325) (1,176) 1,206 2,441

Debit issuance:

CEBURES HERDEZ 11 (6,626) (3,323) 3,343 6,706

CEBURES HERDEZ 13-2  (43,237)  (21,885)  22,418  45,370

Total $  (52,188)  (26,384)  26,967  54,517

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for derivative financial instruments

 The Company is exposed to the rate risk of the different financial instruments held, a sensitivity analysis for 

each of them is shown below;

  Swap on interest rates

Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Swaps on interest rates $  8,759 4,445 (4,583) (9,310)

Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Swaps on interest rates $  9,887 4,972 (5,381) (10,838)
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 Currency forwards

 Additionally, in accordance with the valuation model on currency forwards, part of the inputs are the local 

rate and foreign rate, these instruments are exposed to the fluctuation in those rates, therefore, a sensitivity 

analysis for each rate is shown below: (local or implicit rate and foreign rate).

December 31, 2014

LOCAL RATE 

Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

December 31, 2014

Forwards buy $  383 192 (192) (385)

Forwards sale  (1,535)  (770)  774  1,553

Total $  (1,152)  (578)  582  1,168

FOREIGN RATE (LIBOR) 

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

December 31, 2014

Forwards buy $  (41) (20) 20 41

Forwards sale  170  85  (85)  (170)

Total $  129  65  (65)  (129)

December 31, 2013

LOCAL RATE 

Increase Decrease

Effect in 000’ MXP + 100 pb + 50 pb - 50 pb - 100 pb

December 31, 2013

Forwards buy $  75 37 (38) (75)

Forwards sale  (1,997)  (1,002)  1,008  1,997

Total $  (1,922)  (965)  970  1,922

FOREIGN RATE (LIBOR) 

Effect in 000’ MXP  + 5 pb + 2.5 pb - 2.5 pb - 5 pb

December 31, 2013

Forwards buy $  (4) (2) 2 4

Forwards sale  100  50  (50)  (100)

Total $  96  48  (48)  (96)

Risk in the raw materials price fluctuation

 The Group is exposed to the risk from the fluctuating prices of raw material, therefore a sensitivity analysis 

was performed on the instruments that are affected by this risk considering scenarios of +/- 10% and +/-15%.
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December 31, 2014 Increase Decrease 

Effect in 000’ MXP +10% +5% -10% - 5%

Derivative finacial 
intruments

Futures on commodities $  784  522  (522)  (784)

Total $  784  522  (522)  (784)

December 31, 2013

Effect in 000 Mxp +10% +5% -10% - 5%

Derivative financial 
instruments

Futures on commodities $  560 280 (280) (560)

Options on commodities  64  21  (21)  (41)

Total $  624  301  (301)  (601)

Capital management-

 The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital basis so as to maintain the investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital is comprised by total stockholders’ 

equity, minus the accrued amounts in the equity related with hedging of cash flow.  The Board of Directors 

also monitors the returns on capital and as well as the level of dividends distributed to the stockholders of 

ordinary shares.

 The Group monitors capital using a debt-equity adjusted index, which adjusts net debt to adjusted equity.  

For this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as total liabilities (including interest-bearing loans and bor-

rowings and obligations under finance leases) plus dividends proposed unearned, less cash and cash equiv-

alents.  Adjusted equity includes all components of equity other than amounts recognized in equity relating 

to cash flow hedges, less proposed unearned dividends.

 During the reporting periods, there were no changes in the approach to the Group’s policies on capital man-

agement. 

 The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

 Periodically, the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of such purchases depends on 

market prices. Buying and selling decisions are made by Management; the Group does not have a defined 

specific plan to repurchase shares.
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 Company Management has established the following rules for management of financial and capital risks:

 – The debt and its cost must not exceed 100% of consolidated stockholders’ equity.

 – Not to reduce capital stock to under $5,300,000.

 – Debt ans its cash cost net must not exceed 2.75 times the EBITDA (1).

 –  Not to reduce interest hedge (EBITDA/net financing expenses) to less than 3 times. 

  All of these rules were duly complied with at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

 (1) EBITDA = Operating Income plus Depreciations and Amortizations

(7) Related parties-

 Parent and ultimate holding company

 As mentioned in note 1, the Group is a subsidiary of Hechos con Amor, S. A. de C. V., which belongs to a group 

of investors that exercises control over it and with which there is a relationship, as it is the main holding Com-

pany with 51% of the Group shares.  The remaining 49% of the shares is owned by numerous stockholders.

 Related party transactions

 The main balances of accounts receivable and payable with related parties as of December 31, 2014 and 

2013 are  follows:

2014 2013
Debtor Creditor Debtor Creditor

HOLDING COMPANY:

Hechos Con Amor, S. A. de C. V. $    -     (374) 1,329      -     

JOINT VENTURES:

Megamex Foods LLC 92,525    -   86,833      -     

Intercafé, S. A. de C. V.   4,272    -   10,828      -     

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES:

Fabrica de Envaces del Pacifico,  
S. A. de C. V.

      -            -            -      (98)

Grupo KUO, S. A. B. de C. V.       -      (13,125)       -           -     

OTHER RELATED PARTIES:

McCormick and Company, Inc.       -      (238,802)       -      (35,329)

Barilla Alimentare       -      (16,697)       -      (7,875)

Energia Para Conservas S. A. de C. V.       -            -      106,237      -     

Desc Corporativo, S. A. de C. V.       -      (4,223)       -     (4,985)

Stafford de México S. A. de C. V. 1,250       -      45,985      -     

Others, net  6,583  -        -        (352)

$  104,630  (273,221)  251,212  (48,639)
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During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, operations conducted with related parties which were 

performed at market value are shown below:

2014 2013

HOLDING COMPANY:  

Lease expenses $  (33,595)  (32,668)

Other expenses $  (5,023)  (5,320)

JOINT VENTURE:

Commissions on sales $  8,388  9,449

Interest collected $  882  1,484

Sales of finished goods and materials $  640,629  546,470

Other income $  167  39

ASSOCIATES:

Purchase of materials $  (358,172)  (393,465)

Lease income $  1,500  1,500

Interest collected $  -       8,863

Other income $  425  715

OTHER RELATED PARTIES:

Lease expenses $  (51,477) (46,417)

Freight services (11,216) (15,279)

Interests earned 9,904 2,025

Interests paid (48,725) (49,805)

Royalties paid (1) (239,947) (222,979)

Administrative services paid (50,268) (62,566)

Fuel purchase (2) (147,421) (117,485)

Import services of finished products (63,926) (54,407)

Sale of finished goods and materials 288,299 267,597

Other expenses  (2,757)  (4,159)

(1) Payment for the use of McCormick and Barilla trademarks to McCormick and Company, Inc. and Barilla Ger Fratelli, respectively.

(2) Purchases performed to the fuel terminal, mainly for the tuna fishing fleet to Suministradora de Combustibles y Lubricantes del 

Puerto Madero, S. A de C. V.
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 Key management personnel compensation 

 The key members of the Board of Directors received the following compensations during those periods, 

which are included in personnel costs under general expenses in the corresponding consolidated state-

ments of income:

2014 2013

Short and long-term direct benefits $  11,280 22,517

Termination benefits  21,220  3,058

$  32,500  25,575

(8) Inventories-

 Inventories are comprised as follows:

2014 2013

Finished goods $  1,314,986 (1)  1,308,620 (1)

Semi-finished goods   1,348   5,653 

Raw materials and packaging materials   456,892   511,123 

Materials held by contract manufacturers 
or consignees

  82,185
  83,485 

Spare parts warehouse   83,608   76,888

Total $  1,939,019   1,985,769

 Turnover of spare parts inventory is under 365 days (average 164 days), therefore, its application is handled 

based on consumption.

(1) At December 2014 and 2013, the Company has recognized an allowance for finished goods inventories of $17,592 and $46,096, respectively.

(9) Accounts receivable

 Accounts receivable consist of the following:

2014 2013

Customers $  1,606,399 1,657,429

Debtors  99,096  46,330

1,705,495 1,703,759

Less allowance for doubtful accounts  9,153  9,603

Accounts receivable - Net $   1,696,342  1,694,156
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(10) Property, machinery and equipment-

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, property, machinery and equipment are comprised as shown in the following table:

Balances at
December 31,

2013
Additions Disposals Transfers 

Balances at
December 31,

2014

Building $  1,761,990 11,178 (83,273) 368,661 2,058,556

Machinery and equipment 2,706,622 20,972  (44,960) 309,329 2,991,963

Fishing equipment 1,102,532 75,570  (73,763) 127,430 1,231,769

Office furniture and equipment 115,148 7,079  (601) 9,462 131,088

Stowing and transportation equipment 342,676 9,935  4,643 18,711 375,965

Electronic data processing equipment    195,924  12,798  8,746  -  217,468

Original investment (OI) 6,224,892 137,532 (189,208) 833,593 7,006,809

Accumulated depreciation  (3,237,283)  (295,002)  117,368  -  (3,414,917)

OI less depreciation 2,987,609 (157,470)  (71,840) 833,593 3,591,892

Land 352,263 -     (9,861) -     342,402

Allowance for impairment -     -     (142,338) -     (142,338)

Assets under construction  771,027  575,317   (58,963)  (833,593)  453,788

Total fixed assets $  4,110,899  417,847  (283,002)  -  4,245,744

Balances at
January 1,

2013
Additions

Additions
derived from

business
acquisitions

Disposals Transfers 
Balances at
December 31,

2013

Building $  1,430,263 25,782 171,049 27,911 106,985 1,761,990

Machinery and equipment 2,375,667 172,040 96,465 (93,379) 155,829 2,706,622

Fishing equipment 1,046,356 - -      -      56,176 1,102,532

Office furniture and equipment 95,495 3,905 4,476 8,839 2,433 115,148

Stowing and transportation 
equipment

315,762 2,682 14,139 8,106 1,987 342,676

Electronic data processing 
equipment  152,734  18,887  5,996  17,611  696  195,924

Original investment (OI) 5,416,277 223,296 292,125 (30,912) 324,106 6,224,892

Accumulated depreciation  (2,873,380)  (291,247)  -       (72,656)  -  (3,237,283)

OI less depreciation  2,542,897  (67,951)  292,125  (103,568)  324,106  2,987,609

Land 305,685 -      46,578 -      -      352,263

Assets under construction  464,150  666,609  603  (36,229)  (324,106)    771,027

Total fixed assets $   3,312,732 598,658 339,306 (139,797)  - 4,110,899
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 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the depreciation expense of $209,384 and $224,630, respectively, was 

charged to the cost of sales, $71,970 and $57,745 to selling expenses, respectively, and $13,648 and $8,872 

to administrative expenses, respectively.

 Allowance for unused fixed Assets

 During 2014, as a result of the replacement occurred for the plant called “La Corona”, located to Los Mochis, 

an allowance for unused fixed assets was recognized by the Group arising $142,338 in relation with plant and 

equipment. The effect was charged within other expenses.

 Assets under construction

 During the year, the Group develops projects that will increase production capacity for $575,317, which are 

estimated to be completed in 2015; the outstanding estimated investment related to such constructions in 

progress amounts to $331,919.

(11) Intangible assets and goodwill-

 Intangible assets as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 include the following:

Goodwill
Patents and
trademarks

Defined life
intangible

assets (1)

Total
intangible

assets

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2013 $  2,854,112 991,568 1,457 3,847,137

Additions 1,724,463  -       45,644 1,770,107

Additions due to business combinations -       992,800 -     992,800

Amortization for the period -       -         (1,661)  (1,661)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 4,578,575 1,984,368 45,440 6,608,383

Additions -       10,000 25,667 35,667

Additions due to business combinations 32,752 -       -     32,752

Impairment loss -       (29,787) -     (29,787)

Amortization for the period - -        (10,774)  (10,774)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 $  4,611,327  1,964,581  60,333  6,636,241

(1) Corresponds to non-competence contracts, developed technology and customer relationships.

 For the year ended on December 31, 2014, the Group’s Management recognized an impairment loss of 

$17,581 and $12,206 applied to “Solo” and “La Gloria” brands, respectively, as no income will be obtained 

in the future for the aforementioned intangible assets.

 Based on Management’s analysis, no impairment losses were determined in regards to intangible assets as 

at December 31 2013, and also at January 1, 2013.

Amortization and impairment losses-

 Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were recognized under 

administrative expenses in the income statement. 
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Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill-

 For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units 

(operating division).

 The following is a summary of goodwill assigned to each operating segment: 

December 31, 2014

Opening
balance Additions Ending

balance

Goodwill related to National segment $  2,854,112 32,752 2,886,864

Goodwill related to Nutrisa segment  1,724,463 -          1,724,463

$  4,578,575  32,752  4,611,327

December 31, 2013

Opening
balance Additions Ending

balance

Goodwill related to National segment $  2,854,112 -          2,854,112

Goodwill related to Nutrisa segment -         1,724,463  1,724,463

$  2,854,112  1,724,463  4,578,575

 Cash flows subsequent to that period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates shown below, 

which do not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the business in which each CGU and/or seg-

ment operates.

 The key assumptions used in estimation of value in use in 2014 are as follows:

National
segment

Gross margin 30.00%

Long-term growth rate 3.90%

Discount rate 9.50%

 The key assumptions used in estimation of value in use in 2013 are as follows:

National
segment

Gross margin 31.00%

Long-term growth rate 3.90%

Discount rate 9.90%
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 These assumptions have been used for each CGU.

 The gross margin has been budgeted based on past performance and on development expectations of 

each market.  The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the projections included in the 

industry’s reports.

 The discount rate corresponds to a pre-tax measure that is estimated based on past experience and the 

weighted average cost of capital of the industry that is based on a possible range of debt leveraging of 40 

percent at a market interest rate of 7 percent.

 Five years of cash flows were included in the model of discounted cash flow.  A long-term growth rate in per-

petuity was determined based on the estimate of the administration of long-term compound annual growth 

rate that, in the opinion of Management, was consistent with the assumption that it would make a market 

participant.

(12) Equity-accounted investment in subsidiaries -

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the investment in associates for $5,226,855 and $4,598,513, respectively, 

belongs to the investment in Megamex for $5,043,876 and $4,432,732, respectively, and other investments 

for $182,979 and $165,781, respectively (see note 13).

 The Group’s profit share for the year ended as of December 31, 2014 of its associated entities recognized by 

the equity method amounted to $414,334, and as of December 31, 2013 to $186,323.

 At December 31, 2013, the Group received dividends from its associate Fábrica de Envases del Pacífico, S. 

A. de C. V. for $57,007, recognized under the equity method.  In 2014 no dividends were received.

(13) Associated parties-

 Megamex Foods, LLC (Megamex) was incorporated on October 21, 2009 in the United States of America.  

Megamex is a joint venture between Hormel Foods Corporation and Authentic Specialty Foods Inc. (ASF), 

which is a subsidiary of Herdez Del Fuerte.  The recognition of this investment is recognized under the equity 

method in the results of Authentic Specialty Foods Inc. 

 Megamex carries out the production, distribution and sale of a variety of Mexican products, mainly to su-

permarkets, food service, distributors, retailers and convenience stores.  Some of the products marketed by 

Megamex are produced by Herdez Del Fuerte in Mexico. 
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 The table included on the following page summarizes Megamex financial information included in its financial 

statements.  The table on the following page reconciles the summary financial information with the book 

value of the participation of ASF.

2014 2013 
Non-current assets $  4,619,229 4,384,527

Current assets 5,649,107 4,631,712

Non-current liabilities 1,243« 1,007

Current liabilities  176,475  146,877

Net assets (100%) $  10,090,618  8,868,355

Group’s shares of net assets (50%) $  5,045,410 4,434,266

Elimination of unrealized profit  (1,534)  (1,534)

Carrying amounts of the participation in the joint venture $  5,043,876  4,432,732

Net sales $  2,829,877 2,728,600

Interest income 222,967 214,815

Income taxes expenses -       (41,103)

Profit and total comprehensive income (100%)  761,328  290,261

Group’s share on earnings and other comprehensive 
income (50%)

$  380,672 145,131

Received dividends $  129,577  248,259

 The following is a summary of the financial information pertaining to the main associated entities recognized 

by the equity method, by the Company’s shareholding percentage:

December 31, 2014 Share holding Investment

Incubadora Orgánica, S. A. de C. V. 50% $  (210)

Intercafé, S. A. de C. V. 50% 33,097

Fábrica de Envases del Pacífico, S. A. de C. V. 50%  150,092

$  182,979

December 31, 2013 Share holding Investment

Aires de Campo, S. A. de C. V. 50% $  3,312

Intercafé, S. A. de C. V. 50% 28,274

Fábrica de Envases del Pacífico, S. A. de C. V. 50% 119,761

Energía para Conservas, S. A. de C. V. 90%  14,434

$  165,781
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(14) Loans and liabilities-

 This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s loans and liabilities bearing in-

terest, which are valued at amortized cost in order to provide more information about Group’s exposure to 

interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk

 On November 10, 2014, the Group placed domestic bonds of $1,000,000; obtained resources were used to 

pay the long-term bond (HERDEZ 11) maturing in February 2015 and for other corporate purposes.

 On November 15, 2013, the Group placed domestic bonds of $3,000,000; obtained resources were used for 

the advance payment of a bank loan in the amount of $350,000 due in 2014 and $2,640,000 in a bridge loan 

to finance the acquisition of Grupo Nutrisa, S. A. B. de C. V. 

 Notes payable and short-term and long-terms debts are analyzed as shown below:

2014 2013

Domestic bonds in Mexican pesos, maturing on February 13, 2015, with interest payable in at 
the 28-day TIIE plus 0.60% $  600,000 600,000

Bank loan in Mexican pesos, maturing on March 16, 2015, with interest payable in monthly at 
the 28-day TIIE plus 1.50%, paid in advance on April 22nd, 2014 -        200,000

Domestic bonds in Mexican pesos, maturing on September 20, 2017, with interest payable in 
semiannual at the rate of 7.93% 600,000 600,000

Domestic bonds in Mexican pesos, maturing on November 9, 2018, with interest payable in 
monthly at the 28-day  TIIE 28 plus 0.54% 1,000,000 1,000,000

Domestic bonds in Mexican pesos, maturing on November 4, 2019, with amortizations as 
from 2015 and interest payable in monthly at the 28-day  TIIE 28 plus 0.35% 1,000,000 -        

Bank loan in Mexican pesos, due on December 5, 2019, with amortizations as from 2015 and 
interest payable at a variable rate TIIE 91, plus 2.00% 600,000 600,000

Domestic bonds in Mexican pesos, maturing on November 3, 2023, with interest payable 
semiannual at the rate of 8.02% 2,000,000 2,000,000

Total notes payable 5,800,000 5,000,000

Less current installments  900,000  -  

Notes payable, excluding current installments 4,900,000 5,000,000

Cost of issuance of unamortized traded notes (domestic bonds)  (19,521)  (20,630)

Long-term maturity - Net $  4,880,479  4,979,370

Loan covenants

The main covenants are listed as follows:

 – Not to exceed the 2.75 times leverages (liabilities with consolidated cost - net/EBITDA). 

 – Not to reduce interest hedge (EBITDA/net financing expenses) to less than 3 times. 

 – Not to reduce capital stock to under $5,300,000.

 – To grant any kind of loan or credit, secured or unsecured, except for those entered into with the bo-

rrower’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates.

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013 and at the date of approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements, there 

is no default that could modify loan conditions.
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Long-term debt-

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the long-term debt is comprised as follows:

2014 2013

Loans payable $  1,060,414 968,586

Commercial sale contract  67,248  95,633

$  1,127,662  1,064,219

December 31, 2014

Company
Acquisition

date
Maturity

date
Amount Interest rate

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-12 Dec 31-16 $ 250,000 TIIE (91 days) + 4.50 points

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-13 Dec 31-16 368,370 Libor 3 (three) months + 3.5%

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-13 Dec 31-16  442,044 Libor 3 (three) months + 3.5%

$ 1,060,414(1)

 (1) Simple credits.

December 31, 2013

Company
Acquisition

date
Maturity

date
Amount Interest rate

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-12 Dec 31-16 $  250,000 TIIE (91 days) + 4.50 points

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-13 Dec 31-16 326,630 Libor 3 (three) months + 3.5%

Grupo Kuo, S. A. B. de C. V. Dec 31-13 Dec 31-16  391,956 Libor 3 (three) months + 3.5%

$  968,586(1)

 (1) Simple credits.

(15) Business combination-

Acquisition

 On January 17, 2013 Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. signed a purchase agreement to acquire the shares of 

Grupo Nutrisa, S. A. B. de C. V. “Nutrisa”. Such agreement contained certain terms and conditions, including 

the approval by the Federal Commission of Competence and the approval by the shareholders of Grupo 

Herdez, which had to be complied with for the operation to be completed.  In addition, Grupo Herdez was 

forced by the Securities Market Law to carry out the public offering for the acquisition of outstanding shares.  

On May 9, 2013, Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V announced a successful result of the public offering to ac-

quire the outstanding shares of Grupo Nutrisa, S. A. B. de C. V. setting a share price of $91.00 pesos.  As a 

result of the public offering, Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. acquired 99.82% of the capital stock of Grupo 



 GRUPO HERDEZ | 100 YEARS CREATING OUR STORY

109

Nutrisa, S. A. B. de C. V., thus originating the closing of the transaction based on the terms and conditions of 

the sales agreement.  The closing of the operation was performed on May 13, 2013, since that date Grupo 

Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. consolidated the results of Grupo Nutrisa, S. A. B. de C. V.

 In the eight months elapsed as to December 31, 2013, Nutrisa contributed revenues of $782,738 and prof-

its of $46,392 to the Group’s results.  If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2013, the management 

estimates that consolidated revenue would have amounted to $13,629,137 and consolidated profits for the 

period would have amounted to $1,193,825. In determining these amounts, the management has assumed 

that the provisionally determined fair value adjustments, arising from the acquisition date would have been 

the same if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2013.

 Nutrisa shareholders received $91.00 pesos per share, representing a total of $2,971,308 of the consideration 

transferred.

 Acquisition-related costs

 The Group incurred in acquisition costs of $6,000 relating to external legal fees, due diligence costs and 

bank commissions that guaranteed payment. These costs have been included in administrative expenses.

 Identifiable assets acquired and identifiable liabilities assumed

 The following table is a summary of the amounts recognized for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

to the acquisition date:

Property, machinery and equipment $  339,300

Intangible assets 1,010,747

Other assets 16,037

Deferred tax assets  16,823

Non-current assets  1,382,907

Inventories 99,008

Taxes receivable 86,118

Account receivables and others 24,383

Prepayments 9,558

Cash and cash equivalents  84,540

Current assets  303,607

Total assets $  1,686,514

Deferred tax liabilities 349,887

Accruals  4,360

Non-current liabilities  354,247

Income taxes payable 125

Suppliers and other payables 74,989

Accruals  3,835

Current liabilities  78,949

Total identifiable acquired net assets $  1,253,318



Grupo Herdez, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

2014 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

110

Measurement of fair values

 Valuation techniques used to measure fair value of tangible assets acquired are as follows:

Asset acquired Valuation technique

PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

Market Comparison Technique and Cost Technique: The valuation model 
considers quoted market prices for items when they are available, and 
the depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. The depreciated 
replacement cost reflects the adjustments relating to physical deterioration as 
well as the functional and economic obsolescence.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Relief-from-royalty method and multi-periods excess earning method: The 
relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted estimated royalty 
payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the patents or 
trademarks being owned. 

The trade receivables include the gross contractual amounts due of $24,383 at the acquisition date.

 If the new information obtained within a period of one year from the acquisition date about facts and circum-

stances that existed at the acquisition date identifies adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional 

provisions that existed at the date of acquisition the accounting for the acquisition shall be revised.

Goodwill

 Goodwill arising from the acquisition was recognized as follows:

Transferred consideration $  2,971,308

Non-controlling interest 6,473

Fair value of the identified net assets  (1,253,318)

Goodwill $  1,724,463

 Goodwill is mainly attributable to Nutrisa workforce skills and technical talent and the growth strategy of the 

Group to strengthen its position in the segment through the incursion into the category of frozen foods and 

a new sales channel through retail stores.  No portion of the recognized goodwill is expected to be deduct-

ible for income tax purposes.

Contingent consideration 

 On August 22, 2011, HDF acquired through their joint venture called Megamex, 100% of the shares of the 

corporation Avomex, which purpose is the production, marketing, distribution and sale of processed avoca-

do and “guacamole” through premium trademarks in the U.S. 
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 As part of Avomex sales agreement, Megamex pledged to the payment of contingent consideration subject 

to Avomex financial results, which was due in 2014 (in terms of annual compound growth rate of net sales 

and adjusted EBITDA percentage on net sales). 

 The Group’s Management concluded that the contingent consideration was paid by Megamex, following 

the acquisition of Avomex is part of the consideration for the business combination.

 Due to the above and as a result of the valuation of the consideration, the best estimate was indeed performed; 

therefore, no significant losses are expected for any variation that may occur.  The record of this allocation was 

made on the proportional part, and was part of the total consideration related to such business combination.  

The subsequent adjustments of valuation are recognized in the income statement of the Group. 

 On October 8, 2013, the Group entered an agreement in which they agreed to limit contingent consider-

ation to US$60 million, which was paid in November 2014.  Such agreement created the recognition of the 

corresponding liability.  Also, the net effect on the Group income statement was by $9.2 million USD in 2013.

(16) Operating lease-

Leases as lessee

 The Group leases a number of warehouses and factory facilities under operating leases. The leases typically 

run for a period of maximum 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments 

increase every five years to reflect the market lease prices. Some leases include additional lease payments 

based on changes in a local price index.

 Leases of plant and warehouse were signed more than ten years ago and they correspond to combined 

leases of land and facilities. The Group determined that the land and buildings items of the lease of the 

warehouse and factory are operating leases. The fee paid to the owner of the building is increased to market 

prices at regular intervals, and the Group does not participate in the residual value of the facilities.  There-

fore, it was determined that substantially all the risks and benefits belong to the lessor.

 One of the leased properties has been sub-leased by the Group. The lease and sub-lease expire in 2019. 

Sublease payments expected to be received arised to $1,500, during 2014.

Amounts recognized in profit or loss

 During the year, $110,218 were recognized as an expense in the income statement in regards to operating 

leases ($106,371 in 2013).  An amount of $1,500 was included as “other income” in respect of sub-leases 

($1,500 in 2013).

Future minimum lease payments

 At December 31, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were as shown in the 

next page.
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2014 2013

Less than a year $  16,627 21,987

Between one year and five years  133,903  108,709

$  150,530  130,696

Leases as lessor

 The Group does not have leases as lessor.

(17) Employee benefits-  

2014 2013

Obligations in the statement of financial position arising from: 

Pension plan and seniority premiums $  (293,439) (321,907)

Projected liability (108,665) (112,173)

Pension plan and seniority premiums:

Net periodic cost 12,602 29,798

Actuarial losses recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period before income tax

(9,608) 9,838

Accumulated actuarial losses recognized in prior years in the 
statement of comprehensive income

 39,789  49,397

Employee benefits 

 Some entities of the Group offer their employees a pension plan of defined benefits in Mexico, on the basis 

of pensionable compensation and years of service of the employees.  The Plan Assets (PA) that support these 

plans are held in trusts, foundations or similar institutions regulated under local laws and by each country’s 

accepted practices, which also regulate the nature of the relationship between the Group and trust benefi-

ciaries (or equivalent) and their composition thereof.

 Below is a breakdown of the PA defined benefit:

2014 2013

Variable rent $ 41,694 40,520

Debt instrument 85,507 90,234

Cash  57,110  68,678

Fair value of plan assets $ 184,311  199,432
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 The amounts shown in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2014 2013

Defined benefit obligations $ (293,439) (321,907)

Fair value of PA 184,311 199,432

Variations in assumptions and adjustments  463  10,302

Net projected liabilities $ (108,665)  (112,173)

 

 The changes in the defined benefit obligations during the years presented are as follows:

2014 2013

As at January 1 $  321,907 304,395

Cost of current service 16,224 21,006

Financial cost 20,042 16,754

Actuarial losses (23,964) (15,772)

Benefits paid (31,996)    (4,476)

Obligations reduction effect (8,948) -

Personnel transfer  174  - 

As at December 31 $  293,439  321,907

 The entry in the PA fair value during the years presented are as follows:

2014 2013

As at January 1 $  199,432 147,999

Expected return on plan assets 8,822 5,988

Employer’s contribution -      54,150

Benefits paid from PA  (23,943)  (8,705)

As at December 31 $  184,311  199,432

 The amounts recognized in the income statement are as follows:

2014 2013

Cost of current service $  16,224 21,006

Financial cost (a) 20,042 16,754

Expected return on PA (b)  (14,716)   (8,392)

Net interest (a + b) 5,326 8,362

Obligations reduction effect  (8,948) -     

Cost of prior services  -       430

Total included in personnel costs and expenses $  12,602  29,798

 The charge for the 2014 period a total of $12,602 was included in the cost of sales for $4,449, administrative 

expenses $3,414 and selling expenses $4,739.
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 The charge for the 2013 period of $29,798 was included in the cost of sales for $13,107 and administrative 

expenses for $6,216, and selling expenses in the amount of $10,475.

 The main variables used in the actuarial calculations were the following:

Discount rate-

 The determination of the discount rate considers the term and behavior of zero-coupon government bonds 

in force as at November 31, 2014 and 2013, a 7.00% rate (rounded off to the nearest quarter).

Long-term inflation rate-

 Banco de México (Central Bank) established a goal for long-term inflation of 3.50%, which was considered 

for the valuation of the labor obligations.

Salary increase rate-

 Based on experience, salary increases have been observed to be presented on the basis of annual inflation, 

thus a nominal rate of 4.50% was maintained, the same as in 2013.

Expected return of PA-

 The expected return rate on plan assets is consistent with the discount rate reported by the actuary and it 

was determined with the guidelines established in the most recent version of IAS 19.

 See main variables used:

2014 2013

Discount rate 7.00% 8.00%

Salary increase rate 4.50% 4.50%

Minimum wage increase rate 3.50% 3.50%

Long-term inflation rate 3.50% 3.50%
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Sensitivity analysis-

 Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, keeping 

other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts as shown 

below:

December 31, 2014 Total

Seniority premium Increase Decrease

A. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Discount rate (change of 1%) $ (3,952) 4,732

Salary increase rate (change of 1%) 282 (304)

Future mortality (change of 1 year)  58  (54)

total

Pension plans Increase Decrease

A. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Discount rate (change of 1%) $ (24,950) 30,134

Salary increase rate (change of 1%) 30,603 (25,715)

Future mortality (change of 1 year)  1,923  (2,107)

December 31, 2013 Total

SENIORITY PREMIUM Increase Decrease

A. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Discount rate (change of 1%) $ (4,251) 5,172

Salary increase rate (change of 1%) 219 (629)

Future mortality (change of 1 year)  44  (41)

Total

PENSION PLANS Increase Decrease

A. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Discount rate (change of 1%) $(27,236) 30,509

Salary increase rate (change of 1%) 44,960 (37,255)

Future mortality (change of 1 year)  391   (357)

 

 Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it 

does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

(18) Taxes-

Income Tax (IT)

 On December 11, 2013, a decree was published in the Official Gazette whereby several tax provisions were 

amended, supplemented, and repealed.  This decree became effective as of January 1, 2014.  Upon enact-

ment of a new IT Law, the IETU Law and the IT Law in effect until December 31, 2013 were repealed. 

 Further changes are set out in the scheme of deduction of expenditure for employee benefits in the Income 

Tax Law, IT on dividends, eliminating the simplified regime, changing the income tax rate, changes in the de-
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termination of the Employee Statutory Profit Sharing (ESPS) and the elimination of tax consolidation regime. 

Up to December 31, 2014 the Group’s Income Tax was determined on a consolidated basis

 Consolidated book and tax results differ mainly due to items taxed or deducted over time, differently for 

book and tax purposes, due to recognition of the effects of inflation for tax purposes, as well as to items only 

affecting either book or tax results.  

 Until December 31, 2013, the Group determined a consolidated tax profit, relating to the group of entities 

that are part of the tax consolidation regime of $176,313.  On December 31, 2013, the Company recognized 

an asset for income tax related differences of “Cuenta de Utilidad Fiscal Neta” (CUFIN) for $7,006.

 Below is a reconciliation of tax-consolidation-related income tax balances: 

Income tax 
liabilities

2014 2013

Opening balance at January 1 of each year $  218,643 225,649

Increases:

IT from differences in CUFIN and CUFINRE (1)  -  (7,006)

Decrease:

First payment the installment  (10,740)  - 

Closing balance at December 31 $  207,903  218,643

 (1) Cuenta de Utilidad Fiscal Neta Reinvertida.

 The income tax expense at December 31, 2014 and 2013, is comprised as shown below:

2014 2013

Current IT $  871,712 558,188

Deferred IT  (107,517)  (21,723)

Total income Tax $  764,195  536,465

 Under the income tax law in force until December 31, 2013, the income tax rate for 2014 and 2013 was 30%. 

The law in force from January 1 established an income tax rate of 30% for 2014 and subsequent years.
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 Amounts recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

2014 2013

Before
tax

Income
tax

effect

Net of
tax

Before
tax

Income
tax

effect

Net of
tax

Remeasurements of defined 
benefit (liability) asset

$  8,993 9,285 (292) (9,349) (2,805) (6,544)

Foreign business - translation 
adjustmen

194,974 -     194,974 (16,664) -     (16,664)

Available-for-sale financial 
assets

 (18,311)  (5,459)  (12,852)  43,354  12,971  30,383

$  185,656  3,826  181,830  17,341  10,166  7,175

Effective tax rate reconciliation

 The following represents the reconciliation between the statutory rate and the effective IT rate:

2014 2013

Income before income taxes $  2,268,483 1,683,979

Statutory rate  30%  30%

IT at statutory rate  680,545  505,194

Plus (less) tax effect of permanent items:

Inflationary effects 19,707 (8,434)

Results reported by associates and join ventures, net of tax (13,129) (29,971)

Tax loss carry forwards from previous years previously 
unrecognized

(28,541) (4,921)

Effect of change in deferred income tax rate -       13,874

Other permanent items (1)  65,827  4,861

724,409 480,603

Income tax amnesty  39,786  55,862

IT expense $   764,195  536,465

Effective income tax rate 34% 32%

 (1) Including non-deductible expenses in 2014 for $53,800 ($22,241 in 2013), prior year’s differences and tax benefits in 2014 for $12,027 

($(17,380) in 2013).
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 The main effects of temporary differences for which deferred Income Tax are analyzed are shown as follows: 

Movement in deferred tax balances

2014 2013

Asset Liability Net Asset Liability Net

Deferred assets:

Estimates and accruals $ 118,510 30,211 88,299 128,298 43,500 84,798

Derivative financial instruments (1) 18,889 -     18,889 9,397 -      9,397

Tax loss carry forwards and tax incentive 45,442 -     45,442 1,849 -      1,849

Fiscal cost of joint venture shares 51,580 -     51,580 51,580 -      51,580

Employee benefits (2)  19,148  -       19,148  25,422  458  24,964

Deferred tax assets $ 253,569  30,211  223,358  216,546  43,958  172,588

2014 2013

Asset Liability Net Asset Liability Net

Deferred liabilities:

Inventories $ 14,449 41,962 (27,513) 15,569 36,048 (20,479)

Derivative financial instruments (1) -     5,526 (5,526) -      1,494 (1,494)

Prepayments -     9,478 (9,478) 248 6,050 (5,802)

Other assets 15,451 38,406 (22,955) 12,922 36,826 (23,904)

Property, machinery and equipment, net 66,908 99,701 (32,793) 30,789 130,296 (99,507)

Intangibles Nutrisa Trademark -     297,840 (297,840) -      297,840 (297,840)

Deferred tax for trademark recognition  -       262,000  (262,000)  -        262,000  (262,000)

Deferred tax liabilities $ 96,808  754,913  (658,105)  59,528  770,554  (711,026)

Net tax assets (liabilities) $  350,377  785,124  (434,747)  276,074  814,512  (538,438)

(1) These effects are recorded as part of other comprehensive income.

(2) There is an effect of $8,092 corresponding to deferred taxes on actuarial losses recorded in other comprehensive income.
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 The gross movement on deferred tax is as follows: 

2014 2013

Opening balance $ (538,438) (250,436)

Valuation of financial instruments 5,459 (12,971)

Debit or credit related to components in other comprehensive 
income and incorporation of businesses

(9,285) 1,086

Recorded in income statement 107,517 21,723

Trademarks acquisition  -      (297,840)

$ (434,747)  (538,438)

Gross movement on the deferred tax asset and liability during the year is as follows:

Deferred assets
Estimates

and
accruals

Royalties
Derivative
financial

instruments

Tax
cost of

joint 
venture
shares

Employee
benefits

Tax losses
and

incentives
Total

Balances at December 31, 
2012

$ 52,527 30,831 22,368 51,580 37,448 1,306 196,060

Debits (credits) related to 
other comprehensive 
income components

10,841      -     (12,971)      -     -          -     (2,130)

Debits (credits) to statement 
of income

 21,430  (30,831)   -   -  (12,484)  543  (21,342)

Balances at December 31, 
2013

84,798      -     9,397 51,580 24,964 1,849 172,588

Debits (credits) related to 
other comprehensive 
income components

(1,051)      -     9,492      -     (8,235)      -     (206)

Debits (credits) to statement 
of income

 4,552   -   -   -  2,419  43,593  50,564

Debits (credits) to statement 
of income

$ 88,299  -  18,889  51,580  19,148  45,442  223,358
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Deferred liabilities Inventories
Derivative
financial

 instruments
Prepayments

Property,
machinery 

and
equipment,

net

Intangible
Other
assets

Total

Balances at December 31, 
2012

$ (30,793) -   (22,849) (61,944) (262,000) (68,910) (446,496)

Debits (credits) related to 
other comprehensive 
income components

-     (1,494) -     -     -      -     (1,494)

Business combination 
Nutrisa

-     -    -     -      (297,840) -     (297,840)

Translation effects -     -    -     -     -      7,142 7,142

Business combination 
Nutrisa

-     -    -     -     -      (15,403) (15,403)

Debits (credits) to statement 
of income

 10,314  -  17,047  (37,563)  -  53,267  43,065

Balances at December 31, 
2013

(20,479) (1,494) (5,802) (99,507) (559,840) (23,904) (711,026)

Debits (credits) related to 
other comprehensive 
income components

     -     (4,032) -     -     -      -     (4,032)

Debits (credits) to statement 
of income

 (7,034)  -  (3,676)  66,714  -  949  56,953

Balances at December 31, 
2014

$ (27,513)  (5,526)  (9,478)  (32,793)  (559,840)  (22,955)  (658,105)

Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities

 At December 31, 2014, there was a deferred tax liability of $1,167,259 ($876,184 in 2013) for temporary 

differences of $2,948,434 ($2,509,397 in 2013) related to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures that 

were not recognized because the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

difference associated with those investments and is probable that the liability will not be reversed in the 

foreseeable future.

(19) Stockholders’ equity and reserves-

(a) Common shares-

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s subscribed and paid-in capital stock totaling $432,275, 

plus an increase of $143,350, to express it in modified historical pesos, and is represented by 432,000,000 

common nominative shares, with no par value.
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 In case of reduction of capital, the procedures established by the Income Tax Law (ITL) provides that any 

excess of stockholders’ equity on the balance of the capital contributions has the same tax treatment 

as dividends.

 The Company decided to take the following measures in relation with its outstanding shares available 

in stock market.

iv) At the April 2014 Stockholders’ meeting, the stockholders agreed on a maximum amount of 

$600,000 of resources that the Company can set aside to repurchase own shares.

  The stock repurchase fund showed its activity as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Number
of shares

Amount
Number

of shares
Amount

Purchases $ 6,648,046 237,141 500,274 19,586

Sales  (547,650)  (21,116)  (500,274)  (21,497)

Net  6,100,396  216,025  -   (1,911)

 As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had no shares in the treasury.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves-

 Reserve for repurchase of shares

 The Company may acquire shares representing its capital through the stock market in which it operates and 

the current market price, without giving effect to the prohibition as set forth in the first paragraph of Article 

One Hundred Thirty Four of the Mexican Corporate Law (Ley General de Sociedades Mercantiles, LGSM) 

and complying with the requirements of the Securities Market Law, the general provisions to that effect 

issued by the National Banking and Securities Commission and other applicable laws.

 Statutory reserve

 In accordance with the LGSM, five percent of net income for the year must be appropriated to the statutory 

reserve, until it reaches one-fifth of capital stock.  As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the statutory reserve 

amounts to $141,862 and has reached the required amount.

(c) Dividends-

 On March 4, 2014 dividends in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General Meeting 

of subsidiaries in the amount of $100,000 were issued.

 On August 11, 2014 dividends in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General Meeting 

of subsidiaries in the amount of $50,000 were issued.
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 On October 16, 2014 dividends in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General 

Meeting of subsidiaries in the amount of $21,500 were issued.

 On November 20, 2014, dividends in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General 

Meeting of subsidiaries in the amount of $13,125 were issued.

 On December 18, 2014 dividends in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General 

Meeting of subsidiaries in the amount of $200,000 were issued.

 On April 25, 2013, the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders agreed to declare dividends from retained 

earnings in the amount of $367,199 at $85 cents per share, which were paid in cash.  Also, dividends in 

favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General Meeting of subsidiaries in the amount of 

$150,000 were issued. 

 On December 13, 2013, the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders agreed to declare dividends from 

retained earnings in the amount of $367,198 at $85 cents per share, which were paid in cash. Also, dividends 

in favor of the non-controlling shareholders in the Ordinary General Meeting of subsidiaries in the amount 

of $200,000 were issued.

 Dividends are free of IT if paid out from the Net Tax Profit Account (CUFIN by its Spanish acronym) any 

excess over the CUFIN is taxable at a rate fluctuating between 4.62% and 7.69%, if paid out from the 

reinvested CUFIN (CUFINRE). Dividends in excess of the after tax earnings account CUFIN and CUFINRE 

are subject to 42.86% tax if paid in 2015. 

 Tax incurred is payable by the Company and may be credited against IT for the period and for the 

following two immediate periods. Dividends paid from previously taxed earnings are not subject to any tax 

withholding or additional tax payments.

 It is also established that individuals residing in Mexico, as well as residents abroad, receiving dividends or 

profits that may have been generated starting from 2014, must pay an additional tax of 10%.  In these cases, 

the companies that distribute or pay dividends to individuals residing in Mexico or residing abroad must 

withhold 10%.  The 10% tax applies only to profits generated in 2014, therefore the company shall carry two 

separate accounts to identify the profits generated before and after 2014.

(20) Income from ordinary activities-

 The earned income for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 comes entirely from the sale of prod-

ucts.  Revenues from the sales of products at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $14,318,529 and $13,180,293, 

respectively.
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Seasonality of operations-

 Most of the products manufactured and marketed by the Group are seasonal, increasing their sales in the 

last four months of the year. Additionally, consumption of certain products increases during lent, and others 

increase in the summer time and some others in the winter. Seasonality is also a factor in the harvest cycle 

of certain raw materials used by the Company, due to which, during those periods, the Group increases its 

safety inventories.

(21) Cost of goods sold-

 Cost of goods sold for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, is comprised as shown below:

2014 2013

Direct cost of sales $ 8,075,312 7,937,741

Maintenance and repairs 336,578 261,412

Electricity 110,785 104,271

Employee benefits 4,449 13,107

Depreciation expenses  209,384  224,630

Total cost of sales $ 8,736,508  8,541,161

(22) Operating expenses-

2014 2013

Salaries and related benefits $ 1,664,576 1,356,491

Distribution and associated 
expenses

1,442,453 1,346,216

Conservation and fuels 201,412 143,738

Depreciation and amortization  96,392  68,278

$ 3,404,833  2,914,723

(23) Other income and other expenses-

 Other income incurred for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is comprised as follows:

2014 2013

Accruals cancellation $ 28,231 1,401

Inflationary effects of favorable tax balances 10,715 5,326

Gain on sale of property, machinery and equipment 23,159 983

Income from distribution services 21,341 -     

Recovery of group life insurance fees -      7,642

Nutrisa (stores sold) -      13,044

Other income  8,750  10,843

Total other income  92,196  39,239
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2014 2013
OTHER EXPENSES:

Fixed assets impairment allowance 142,338 -     

Restructuring expenses 11,243 -     

Incorporation of Aires de Campo (incubadora orgánica) 2,295 -     

Non operating productive plants  889  6,603

Total other expenses  156,765  6,603

$ (64,569)  32,636

(24) Financial income and costs-

2014 2013
Recognized in income-

EARNED INTERESTS:

Bank interests $ 33,564 47,174
Forgiving interest (10,165) -       
Related parties interests -       12,515
Other minor interests  -  2,441

Total earned interests 23,399 62,130

Exchange rate profit  867,677  876,856

Financial income  891,076  938,986

INTERESTS PAID:

Bank interests paid 351,622 292,171
Related parties interests paid 48,693 49,566
Other minor interests  132  298

Total interests paid 400,447 342,035

Exchange rate loss  749,099  856,340

Financial costs  1,149,546  1,198,375

Financial result, net $ 258,470  259,389

(25) Operating segments-

 The Group has two segments on which it should inform, as described below, which correspond to the 

strategic divisions of the Group. The strategic divisions offer various products and services, and they are 

managed separately as they require different technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic 
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divisions, the Company’s CEO (responsible for making operational decisions) reviews the Management 

reports prepared internally at least quarterly.  The following summary describes the operations of one of the 

segments that should be informed:

2014

Nutrisa Mexico USA Total

Net sales $ 1,166,229 12,196,824 955,476 14,318,529

Cost of sales 423,738 7,460,253 852,517 8,736,508

Gross profit 742,491 4,736,571 102,959 5,582,021

Operating income 69,071 2,005,915 37,633 2,112,619

Depreciation and amortization 48,039 226,349 28,199 302,587

F. R. (1) 6,168 252,302 -        258,470

Interests income 794 22,604 -        23,398

Interests costs 5,952 394,495 -        400,447

Equity in associates investment -       414,334 -        414,334

Income before tax 62,903 2,167,947 37,633 2,268,483

Income tax 26,046 730,863 7,286 764,195

Net income 36,857 1,437,084 30,347 1,504,288

Net income attributable to 
controlling interest

36,857 717,352 16,785 770,994

Total assets 674,258 21,201,077 1,385,917 23,261,252

Total liabilities  167,479  9,377,952  539,899  10,085,330

2013

Nutrisa Mexico USA Total

Net sales $ 782,739 11,558,461 839,093 13,180,293

Cost of sales 297,659 7,498,428 745,074 8,541,161

Gross profit 485,080 4,060,033 94,019 4,639,132

Operating income 89,223 1,633,719 34,103 1,757,045

Depreciation and amortization 21,491 242,086 29,331 292,908

F. R. (1) (1,213) 260,602 -        259,389

Interests income 2,105 60,025 -        62,130

Interests costs 1,264 340,771 -        342,035

Equity in associates investment -     186,323 -        186,323

Income before tax 90,436 1,559,440 34,103 1,683,979

Income tax 44,043 485,613 6,809 536,465

Net income 46,393 1,073,827 27,294 1,147,514

Net income attributable to 
controlling interest

46,393 546,112 15,184 607,689

Total assets 667,092 19,143,268 1,178,899 20,989,259

Total liabilities  406,339  8,402,478  50,420  8,859,237

 (1) F.R. = Financial Result.
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 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company comercialized its products with a large number of customers, 

and just one of them (Walmart de México, S. A. B. de C. V.) represents approximately 25% and 20% of the 

total revenues.

(26) Earnings per share-

 The calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2014 and 2013 

was based on the profit of $770,994 attributable to controlling interest stockholders ($607,689 in 2013) and a 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 429,783 thousands of shares (431,972 thousands 

of shares in 2013).

(27) Contingencies-

(a) The Company is involved in a number of lawsuits and claims derived from the ordinary course of busi-

ness. It is expected that the final outcome of these matters will not have significant adverse effects on 

the Company’s financial position and income.

(b) In accordance with the Mexican tax law, the tax authorities are empowered to examine transactions 

carried out during the five years prior to the most recent income tax return filed.

(c) In accordance with the IT Law, companies carrying out transactions with related parties are subject to 

certain requirements as to the determination of agreed prices, which should be similar to those that 

would be used with or between parties in arm’s-length transactions.

(d) There are contingent liabilities arising from tax differences, which the authorities attempt to collect in 

the event of an official review of the tax returns filed by the Company and some of its subsidiaries, if the 

criteria applied in interpreting the legal provisions differ from those of the authorities.

 At December 31, 2014 and 2013, no provision has been recognized in the financial statements, due to the 

fact that the Company, based on its legal advisors recommendations, has filed a petition for the authorities 

to reconsider their position, by considering improper the arguments of said authorities.

(28) Commitments-

(a) The Company leases facilities for administrative offices and warehouses, as well as certain transporta-

tion equipment, under defined term lease agreements. Total rental expense, reported under expen-

ses, amounted to $110,218 in 2014 and $106,371 in 2013 and they are included in the sales and adminis-
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trative expenses in the income statements. Total annual rents payable derived from the definite lease 

agreements up to 2019 are as follows:

Less than a year $ 16,627

Between one year and five years  133,903

 $ 150,530

(b) In the ordinary course of business, certain subsidiaries have undertaken commitments resulting from 

sales agreements, and for the purchase of machinery and equipment, which in certain cases, establi-

shes default penalties in cases of non-compliance.

 As of December 31, 2014, a subsidiary entered into an agreement to acquire a tuna fishing boat for a cost 

of $348,026, as of the date, the Company has paid $127,200.

(29) Subsequent event-

(c) Business acquisitions-

 On December 19, 2014, the Group announced it has entered into an agreement with Nestlé México, S.A. 

de C.V. to acquire Nestlé’s ice cream business in Mexico.

 The acquisition includes an ice cream manufacturing facility in Lagos de Moreno, Jalisco, distribution 

equipment and freezers, as well as an exclusive long-term license to market and sell Nestlé’s ice cream 

brands in Mexico. Under terms of the agreement, Nestlé’s full operating team will join Grupo Herdez to 

lead this business unit. 

 The addition of Helados Nestlé enables Grupo Herdez to increase its scale and capabilities in the frozen 

business segment and practically doubles the size of the ice cream category within the portfolio. This 

transaction will be funded through existing lines of credit and cash on hand. 

 On February 12, 2015, the Group has obtained the approval of the Federal Competition Committee, to 

acquire Nestlé’s ice cream business in Mexico.

(d)  Restructuring-

 With the aim of reducing Group structure, administrative expenses and to simplify transactions, the 

Group merged Marcas Herdez, S. A. de C. V. with Herdez S. A. de C. V., and, Corfuerte, S. A. de C. V. 

with Alimentos Del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. through Herdez Del Fuerte, S. A. de C. V. (subsidiary), subsisting 

Herdez, S. A. de C. V. and Alimentos Del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. as the merging companies with effect on 

January 1st, 2015 and February 1st, 2015 respectively.
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